

Perspectives of primary school teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches

by

Colleen Segauswi Makolane

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

MAGISTER EDUCATIONIS (Educational Psychology)

in the Faculty of Education UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA

Supervisor: Prof Funke Omidire

2020

© University of Pretoria



DECLARATION

I declare that the mini-dissertation "**Perspectives of primary school teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches**", which I hereby submit for the degree Magister Educationis in Educational Psychology at the University of Pretoria, is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution

 ••••••

Colleen Makolane

Date



ETHICS CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE



RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE

Т

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE	CLEARANCE NUMBER:	UP 18/03/01 Omidire 18-002
DEGREE AND PROJECT	MEd	
	Perspectives of primary s effective multilingual teac	
INVESTIGATOR	Ms Colleen Makolane	
DEPARTMENT	Educational Psychology	
APPROVAL TO COMMENCE STUDY	27 November 2018	
DATE OF CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE	30 July 2020	

CHAIRPERSON OF ETHICS COMMITTEE: Prof Funke Omidire

сс

Ms Bronwynne Swarts Prof Funke Omidire

This Ethics Clearance Certificate should be read in conjunction with the Integrated Declaration Form (D08) which specifies details regarding:

- Compliance with approved research protocol,
- No significant changes,
- Informed consent/assent,
- Adverse experience or undue risk,
- Registered title, and
- Data storage requirements.



ETHICS STATEMENT

The author, whose name appears on the page of this mini dissertation, has obtained, for the research described in this work, the applicable research approaval. The author declares that she has observed the ethical standards required in terms of the University of Pretoria's *Code of ethics for researchers and the Policy guidelines for responsible research*



DEDICATION

I dedicate this research to the kindest, strongest and most passionate women in my life, my grandmother **Hunadi Esther Moganedi** and my mother, **Boledi Julia Moganedi**. You have been my source of strength and wisdom, thank you.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank God- for countlessly showing me his grace, giving me the strength to conquer and the wisdom to understand my journey and my purpose.

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to the following people for their support, guidance and patience

- MY PARENTS: Boledi Moganedi & Lekgowa Makolane, thank you for your prayers, encouragement and support throughout this challenging journey. Thank you for being a pillar of love, care, strength and wisdom
- My siblings: Clyde, Chantelle & Lesedi Makolane, thank you for constantly reminding me of the value I add in this field. Your support and unconditional love carried me through my darkest days
- My supervisor: Prof Omidire, thank you for supporting and guiding me in the process of completing my dissertation. Thank you for being patient with me, it gave me courage to continue my studies when I was about to give up
- My extended family and friends: Thank you for your understanding, patience and always believing in me. You gave me courage, in ways that you may not be aware of.



ABSTRACT

There are several major factors that teachers must take into account when dealing with multilingual classrooms such as culture and language diversity. Therefore teaching in a multilingual classroom requires teachers to make the curriculum accessible to all learners through the use of various multilingual teaching approaches. This study explored the perspectives of teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches in accommodating linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms. Qualitative research methods were employed and data was gathered through focus group discussions, semi-structured interviews and classroom observations. Convenience sampling was used to select the participants who were nine teachers from two resource constrained primary schools situated in a semi urban area in Gauteng. The data was analysed by using thematic analyses technique.

The findings indicated that participants perceive the utilisation of code switching and peer teaching to be effective multilingual teaching approaches. Furthermore, the teachers viewed visual aids; concrete objects as useful tools for supporting learners in multilingual classrooms. The participants stated that they experienced challenges such as excessive workload, and limited time to support learners. Despite these challenges, the participants believe that it is worthwhile to strive to respond to the needs of diverse leaners in multilingual classrooms. It is recommended that teacher training focused on teaching linguistically diverse learners in multilingual classroom should be provided as part of a teacher professional development initiative and also included in the pre-service training of teachers.

Keywords: Multilingual classroom, multilingual teaching approaches, inclusive teaching, code-switching, teachers' perspectives



LANGUAGE EDITOR



PO Box 3172 Lyttelton South 0176 17 August 2020

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

The thesis titled "Perspectives of primary teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches" by Colleen Makolane has been proofread and edited for language by me.

I verify that it is ready for publication or public viewing in respect of language and style and it has been formatted as per the prescribed style of the relevant publication.

Please note that no view is expressed in respect of the subject-specific technical contents of the document or changes made after the date of this letter.

Kind regards

mderiet

Anna M de Wet

BA (Afrikaans, English, Classical Languages) (Cum Laude), University of Pretoria.BA Hons ((Latin) (Cum Laude), University of Pretoria.BA Hons (Psychology), University of Pretoria.



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BICS	Basic Interpersonal Communicative
	Skills
CALP	Cognitive Academic Language
	Proficiency
DBE	Department of Basic Education
DoE	Department of Education
FG	Focus Group
IE	Inclusive Education
L2	Second Language
LIEP	Language in Education Policy
LoLT	Language of learning and teaching
MLE	Multilingual Education
MT	Mother tongue
StatsSA	Statistics South Africa
SASA	South African Schools Act
SA	South Africa
UNESCO	United Nations Educational Scientific
	and Cultural Organisation



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLA	RATIONii
ETHIC	S CLEARANCE CERTIFICATEiii
ETHIC	S STATEMENTiv
DEDIC	ATION v
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTSvi
ABSTR	ACTvii
LIST O	F ABBREVIATIONSix
TABLE	OF CONTENTS
LIST O	F TABLESxv
1	CHAPTER ONE1
GENEF	RAL ORIENTATION
1.1	INTRODUCTION
1.2	PROBLEM STATEMENT 1
1.3	PRELIMINARY LITERATURE REVIEW
1.3.1	Language and Educational Policy Development2
1.3.2	Language Acquisition and Language Learning
1.3.3	Multilingual Teaching Approaches4
1.4	PURPOSE OF THE STUDY
1.5	RESEARCH QUESTIONS
1.6	WORKING ASSUMPTIONS
1.7	CONCEPT CLARIFICATION
1.7.1	Multilingual Education6
1.7.2	Multilingual Classroom6
1.7.3	Inclusive Education6
1.7.4	Code-switching6
1.7.5	The difference between Code-switching and Translanguaging7
1.8	THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK7
1.9	RESEARCH PARADIGMS 8

© University of Pretoria



1.9.1	Epistemology8
1.9.2	Methodological Approach9
1.10	RESEARCH METHODOLOGY9
1.10.1	Research Design9
1.10.2	Selection of Participants10
1.11	DATA COLLECTION 11
1.12	DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION12
1.13	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS
1.14	OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS
2	CHAPTER TWO15
LITERA	ATURE REVIEW
2.1	INTRODUCTION
2.2	THE CONCEPT OF MULTILINGUALISM AND MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION
2.3	MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION RELATED STUDIES
2.4	THE IMPORTANCE OF HOME LANGUAGE IN THE ACQUISITION OF LOLT
2.5	THE VALUE OF LANGUAGE POLICY IN MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION 19
2.6	LANGUAGE ACQUISITION AND LANGUAGE LEARNING
2.7	TEACHING APPROACHES FOR LEARNERS IN A MULTILINGUAL CLASSROOM
2.7.1	Translanguaging24
2.7.2	Code-Switching
2	.7.2.1 Theoretical basis of code-switching26
2.8	MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION CHALLENGES
2.9	THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK
2.10	SUMMARY
2.11	CONCLUSION
3	CHAPTER THREE



RESEA	ESEARCH METHODOLOGY		
3.1	INTRODUCTION		
3.2	PURPOSE OF THE STUDY		
3.3	RESEARCH PARADIGMS		
3.3.1	Epistemology33		
3 3.3.2	.3.1.1 Advantages of Constructivism		
3 3.4	.3.2.1 Advantages of qualitative research		
3.4.1. <i>A</i>	Advantages of Case Study Design		
3.5	SELECTION OF SCHOOLS AND PARTICIPANTS		
3.6	DATA COLLECTION AND DOCUMENTATION		
3.6.1	Focus Group Discussions		
3.6.2	Semi-structured Interviews40		
3.6.3 C	lassroom Observations		
3.7	DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION		
3.8	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS		
3.9	QUALITY CRITERIA43		
3.9.1	Credibility43		
3.9.2	Dependability44		
3.9.3	Confirmability		
3.9.4	Transferability44		
3.9.5	Triangulation45		
3.10	CONCLUSION		
4	CHAPTER FOUR		
PRESE	ENTATION OF RESULTS AND FINDINGS		
4.1	INTRODUCTION		
4.2	RESULTS OF THE THEMATIC ANALYSIS		
4.3	PRESENTATION OF RESULTS		

UNIVERSITEIT VAN PRETORIA UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA YUNIBESITHI YA PRETORIA

4.3.	1 T	heme 1: Effective Multilingual Teaching Approaches	
	4.3.1.1	Selection for code switching	49
	4.3.1.2	Subtheme 1.2: Visual aids and Concrete objects	51
	4.3.1.3	Subtheme 1.3: Peer teaching	53
	4.3.1.4	Subtheme 1.4: Rhymes and songs	54
4.3.		heme 2: Teachers' Perception of their Competence in	•
	Ν	Iultilingual Classrooms	55
	4.3.2.1	Subtheme 2.1: Personal experience and training	56
	4.3.2.2	Subtheme 2.2: Personal development	57
4.3.		heme 3: Challenges Teachers Experience in Teaching N	•
	C	Classrooms	58
	4.3.3.1	Subtheme 3.1: Systemic barriers	59
	Subthen	ne 3.2: Learning barriers	61
4.3.	4 T	heme 4: The benefits of using multilingual teaching strategies	s 64
	4.3.4.1	Subtheme 4.1: Academic development benefits	64
	4.3.4.2	Subtheme 4.2: Social benefits	65
4.4	DISC	USSION	66
4.4.	1 E	ffective Multilingual Teaching Strategies	66
4.4.	1 E 4.4.1.1	ffective Multilingual Teaching Strategies	
4.4.			67
4.4.	4.4.1.1	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching	67 67 68
	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs	67 67 68 69
4.4. 4.4.	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching	67 67 68 69
	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs	67 67 68 69 69
4.4.	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience	
4.4. 4.4.	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms	67 67 68 69 69 69 70 71
4.4. 4.4. 4.4.	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T CON	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom	
4.4. 4.4. 4.4. 4.5 5	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T CON CHAI	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom CLUSION	67 67 68 69 69 70 71 71 72
4.4. 4.4. 4.4. 4.5 5	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T CON CHAI CLUSIC	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom CLUSION PTER FIVE	
4.4. 4.4. 4.5 5 CON	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T CON CHAI CLUSIC INTR	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom CLUSION PTER FIVE N AND RECOMMENDATIONS	67 67 68 69 69 70 71 71 71 71 72 72 72
4.4. 4.4. 4.5 5 CON 5.1	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T CON CHAI CLUSIC INTR OVE	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom CLUSION PTER FIVE N AND RECOMMENDATIONS ODUCTION	67 67 68 69 69 70 71 71 71 71 72 72 72 72
4.4. 4.4. 4.5 5 CON 5.1 5.2	4.4.1.1 4.4.1.2 4.4.1.3 4.4.1.4 2 T 3 C 4 T CON CHAI CLUSIC INTR OVEI DISC	Code-switching Visual aids and concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs Teacher Education and Experience Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom CLUSION PTER FIVE N AND RECOMMENDATIONS ODUCTION RVIEW OF THE PREVIOUS CHAPTERS	

© University of Pretoria



5.3.2	Response to the Main Research Question	75
5.3.3	STRENGTHS OF THE STUDY	78
5.4	LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	78
5.5	CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE STUDY	78
5.6	RECOMMENDATIONS	79
5.6.1	Teacher Training and Development	79
5.6.2	Support for Teachers	80
5.6.3	Further Research	80
5.7	CONCLUSIONS	81
6	REFERENCES	82
7	APPENDICES	92
7.1	APPENDIX A - CODED TRANSCRIPTS	92
7.2	APPENDIX B – PERMISSION TO CONDUCT RESEARCH	93
7.3	APPENDIX C - PARTICIPANT CONSENT LETTERS	94
7.4	APPENDIX D - PARTICIPANT INTERVIEW SCHEDULE	96



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1: Participants' details	. 38
Table 4-1: Visual representation of themes, subthemes and sources of data	. 47
Table 4-2: Codes used to describe the participants	. 47
Table 4-3: Criteria for selection multilingual teaching approaches	. 48
Table 4-4: Criteria for selection, code switching	. 49
Table 4-5: Criteria for inclusion, visual aids and concrete objects	. 51
Table 4-6: Criteria for inclusion, Peer teaching	. 53
Table 4-7: Criteria for inclusion, rhymes and songs	. 54
Table 4-8: Criteria for inclusion for teachers' experience and training	. 56
Table 4-9: Criteria for inclusion, personal experience and training	. 56
Table 4-10: Criteria for inclusion, personal development	. 57
Table 4-11: Criteria for inclusion, classroom challenges	. 58
Table 4-12: Criteria for inclusion, systemic barriers	. 59
Table 4-13: Criteria for inclusion, learning barriers	. 61
Table 4-14: Criteria for selection for multilingual teaching approaches	. 64
Table 4-15: Criteria for selection, academic development benefits	. 64
Table 4-16: Criteria for inclusion, social development benefits	. 65



1 CHAPTER ONE GENERAL ORIENTATION

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Schools nationwide are linguistically and culturally diverse (Phatudi, 2015). To deal with this diverse context, schools are required to find effective and sustainable teaching and learning strategies. The Constitution of South Africa (1996) officially declared 12 official languages (including the South African sign language) in 1994 and adopted policies such as South African Schools Act 84 of 1996 (SASA) and the Education White Paper 6 (WPE6) (Department of Education [DoE], 2001; SASA, 2004) and the Language in Education Policy (DoE, 1997), to deal with the language changes in education (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010). Despite the efforts made to facilitate multilingual education in South Africa (SA), teachers are challenged with the responsibility of understanding how best to meet linguistically diverse learners' learning needs and provide an equal, fair and effective education for all learners. The inclusion of linguistically diverse learners in schools thus requires changing the culture and organisation of classroom practices to enable teachers to develop language support interventions. The study aimed to investigate the perspectives of primary teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches in the multilingual classroom.

1.2 PROBLEM STATEMENT

According to Phatudi (2015), education development has brought changes from previously homogenous classrooms to more multicultural and multilingual classrooms. According to Phatudi, "in most countries, more schools are becoming diversified as learners from diverse cultures come together as a community of learning" (p. 25). This community of learning has brought along not only different languages and cultures but also different learning styles, intellectual ability and socio-economic background. Policies such as the Language in Education Policy and Inclusive Education Policy were developed to deal with this multilingual situation in SA. The objective of these policies, together with the South African Constitution (1996) and SASA is to ensure the successful promotion and facilitation of a fair, non-discriminatory education that respects and caters for multilingual teaching in schools (Nel, 2013). The education system, therefore, requires teachers to adopt approaches aimed at promoting successful multilingual teaching and learning in classrooms.



The teaching of learners from diverse language background in SA, however, is still a challenge. According to Garcia and Sylvan (2011), learners' limited proficiency in English (LoLT) contribute to the learning challenges experienced in multilingual classrooms, which includes difficulty to express their thoughts/ideas (especially in writing). The population of learners in schools are not only a representation of South African languages but language communities from other parts of the world, particularly African countries (Lemmer, Meier & Van Wyk, 2012). The challenge then becomes when these linguistically diverse learners are expected to learn effectively and be taught in one common language. Thus, a major problem for teachers with multilingual classrooms is adopting and developing teaching methods and approaches to accommodate the learning needs of individual learners. Curriculum reform in SA also contributed to the problem, as the "teachers may be left feeling inadequate when they cannot cope with the demands of the curriculum that they see as "imposed and unmanageable" (Samoff, 2008, p. ix).

Without the recognition of the importance of creating sustainable systems, and structures which might assist in developing flexible and adaptable approaches to multilingual teaching and learning, establishing and maintaining an inclusive education for multilingual learners would remain a challenge. A need, therefore, arises to explore teachers' views of multilingual teaching and learning in schools, especially in semi-urban schools where most classrooms have learners who speak different home languages.

1.3 PRELIMINARY LITERATURE REVIEW

1.3.1 Language and Educational Policy Development

Teacher classroom practices, the use of teaching resources, managing schools and learning are all informed by policies in SA. The South African Constitution (Act 108 of 1996) has introduced a policy of equitable multilingualism in education by declaring and promoting the use of 12 official state languages (including the South African sign language) in 1996. In recognising cultural diversity and in promoting multilingualism, the South African Constitution and the DoE developed a Language in Education Policy in July 1997 (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010). According to the SASA section 6 (1), the school governing body (SGB) is responsible for choosing an appropriate language policy for the school and for "promoting multilingualism through using more than one language of learning and teaching" (DoE, 1996). Furthermore, the language policy stipulates that all learners should be "competent in their additional



language while they develop and maintain their home language" (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010). Although Constitution and South African schools Act has given schools the authority to choose the language of learning and teaching in their respective schools, the medium of instruction from the fourth-year changes, in most schools, to English.

This transition of the Language of Teaching and Learning (LoLT) together with WP6 on inclusion requires teachers to use different teaching approaches, methodologies and resources in the classroom to ensure that a range of diverse learners' needs are accommodated in schools (Engelbrecht, Nel & Hugo, 2013). Despite the development and implementation of policies that support multilingual teaching in schools, multilingual teaching is still a challenge because of a mismatch in the home languages of other learners and the school chosen home language (HL). Teachers confronted with the almost impossible task of incorporating the curriculum's demands, with adherence to the Language in Education Policy, in their teaching. According to Makgamatha, Heugh, Prinsloo and Winnaar (2013), "curriculum and assessment developments [in South Africa] proceeded without effective mechanisms for including the principles of the language education policies".

1.3.2 Language Acquisition and Language Learning

"Learning to use language effectively enables learners to acquire knowledge, to express their feelings and ideas, to interact with others, and to manage their world" (Xamlashe, 2015, p. 43). According to Engelbrecht et al. (2013), despite the promotion of teaching learners in their HL, parents still prefer their children to use English as the LoLT. This leads many schools to use English in learning, a language most learners are not proficient in and are only exposed to in school. Therefore, teachers should consider how language is learned and incorporate learners' HL knowledge in teaching multilingual classrooms. Mbatha (2015) states that Cummins' Interpersonal Communication Skills (BICS), which is language skills, acquired through informal learning (HL) can be used to acquire the LoLT and Cognitive academic language proficiency (CALP). CALP can be defined as a skill that enables a learner to understand academic concepts and communicate in both oral and written modes (Landsberg, 2016). Thus, the development of CALP depends on a learner's prior language knowledge (HL). "Languages are connected in multiple ways and influence one another in a dynamic system" (Haukas, 2016, p. 2). This statement is evident in international and local studies which indicates that "without sufficient support of the development of the first language in school and home,

3



English second language learners do not succeed academically and both the development of learners' first language and second language are negatively affected" (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010).

1.3.3 Multilingual Teaching Approaches

Teachers in schools are faced with the challenge of ensuring that the needs of learners from diverse language backgrounds who have limited proficiency in English as the language of teaching and learning are met (Lemmer et al., 2012). In an attempt to accommodate linguistically diverse learners in their lessons, teachers commonly use code-switching and translanguaging. A study conducted by Phathudi showed that through skilful code-switching between isiXhosa and English teachers in the Western Cape schools were able to articulate a wide range of teaching approaches to mediate cognitive needs (Phathudi, 2015). In contrast with the results of the study conducted by Phathudi, Childs (2016) reported that teachers felt that translanguaging or code-switching is challenging, time-consuming and required the teachers to be proficient in the HL of the learners.

Even though code-switching and translanguaging are the most commonly used and effective approaches in multilingual teaching, some studies find it to be ineffective. Landsberg (2016) states that translanguaging and code-switching are helpful, however, he argues that it could be confusing when there is a variety of HL in one classroom, since some learners may not understand the language code teachers switch to. Therefore, there was a need to explore effective multilingual approaches used for the development of effective teaching practices in multilingual classrooms further.

1.4 PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

There have been many qualitative and quantitative studies that surveyed teachers' beliefs and attitudes on second language teaching and learning in bilingual and multilingual classes internationally and nationally (Haukas, 2016; Reeves, 2006). However, there is little research that focuses on teachers' perspectives and teaching practices in the inclusion of multilingual learners in South African schools (Childs, 2016; Haukas, 2016; Monyai, 2012). This study of limited scope was aimed at gaining insight into the views of teachers on effective teaching approaches in accommodating linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms. This study investigated the effect of teaching approaches used by teachers in semi-urban multilingual classrooms. Furthermore, the study attempted to describe the actual



teaching and learning interactions in multilingual classrooms and the challenges faced by teachers in teaching multilingual and multicultural classrooms better. The study sought to contribute to the existing research literature by focusing on the perspectives, approaches and capabilities of teachers in South African semi-urban communities who are committed to providing all learners with an equal opportunity to learn.

1.5 **RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

The study sought to expand and explore multilingual approaches in classrooms by answering the following questions:

Main research question: What are primary school teachers' perspectives on the effective multilingual approaches for inclusively teaching linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms?

The following sub-questions guided the study further:

- How do teaching practices adequately accommodate linguistically diverse learners in classrooms?
- What challenges do teachers experience in teaching multilingual classrooms?
- How equipped are teachers in teaching multilingual classrooms?

1.6 WORKING ASSUMPTIONS

Based on the evidence from existing studies on teaching linguistically diverse learners in schools, and my experiences in teaching multilingual classrooms, the study's working assumptions were as follows:

- Teachers experience challenges in teaching multilingual classrooms. They do not get sufficient support in terms of providing relevant resources and focused teacher developmental training.
- Code-switching is considered a valid and frequently used teaching approach in multilingual classrooms. However; it is difficult if the teacher is not fluent in the language of the learners.
- Multilingual teaching approaches are more effective if the learners taught have mastered the use of their HL at an academic proficiency level.



1.7 CONCEPT CLARIFICATION

The study frequently refers to the key concepts defined in the following section.

1.7.1 Multilingual Education

Multilingual education is "a set of principles that are used to varying degrees in different approaches depending on the teaching context, curriculum and learners" (Haukas, 2016, p.4). It is a learner-centred approach intended at developing a learner's language awareness and language knowledge across the languages that the learner knows (Haukas, 2016),

1.7.2 Multilingual Classroom

For this study, "a multilingual classroom in the South African context can be classified as one in which there are three or more different home languages spoken by the children in that classroom while the LoLT of the school is English", while English is not the HL of the learners (Hooijer & Fourie, 2009, p. 2)

Inclusion is the guiding principle that informs the process of reform and restructuring that requires schools to accommodate all learners, irrespective of their social, intellectual, physical, emotional and linguistic differences (Nel, 2013).

1.7.3 Inclusive Education

According to Nel (2013), the National Committee for Education Support Services (NCESS) and National Commission on Special Needs Education and Training (NCSNET) define Inclusive Education (IE) as learning environment that promotes the personal, professional and academic development of all learners, regardless of gender, disability, culture, race, religion, language and learning style (Nel, 2013).

The WP6 (DoE, 2001) defines IE as a process of acknowledging and respecting learner differences irrespective of their age, language, disability and gender; addressing the diverse needs of all learners in South Africa (DoE, 2001). This study will use this definition.

1.7.4 Code-switching

"Code switching is the alternative use by bilinguals of two or more languages in the same conversation" (Milroy & Muysken, 1995, p. 7 as cited in Phatudi, 2015).



1.7.5 Translanguaging

While translanguaging is a process by which teachers and learners engage in complex discursive practices that include learners' language practices in order to develop new language skills and sustain old ones. (Childs, 2016).

1.7.6 The difference between Code-switching and Translanguaging

Code switching is a responsive strategy that involves a shift between languages in context and it includes translation, the shift between languages is usually a short move from the LoLT to the home language of learners and then a switch back to the LoLT (Childs, 2016). Translanguaging is a strategic pedagogical practice that combines two or more languages in a systemic way within the same learning activity. Translanguaging also includes code-switching; however, there is a slight difference in this discursive practice as it involves the process in which bilingual learners make sense of classroom activities using two languages, such as reading, writing, discussing and taking notes (Garcia & Sylvan, 2011).

1.8 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The proposed study is guided by Vygotsky's social constructivist theory, "which states that knowledge is constructed through social influences and interactions within one's environment" (Nel, 2013, p. 23). The theory views external social factors as essential in a learner's development in which learners are considered trainees requiring the guidance and support of a teacher (Zhou & Brown, 2015). According to Woolfolk (2010), meaning and knowledge in sociocultural theory is not inactively received but is actively constructed and reconstructed through the use of mental activities as the learner progresses to higher levels of understanding.

Vygotsky's sociocultural theory further, states that meaning and knowledge is constructed through two forms, firstly through the actual interaction between people (interpersonal category) and through an inner internalised form (Kozulin, 1986). The sociocultural theory is mostly applied in education as it explains guides and informs the process of language acquisition and language teaching. According to Vygotsky's sociocultural theory, learning is guided by the Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD) and scaffolding, described as the process where a teacher assists learners to independently construct new meanings to social context (Woolfolk, 2010). Thus, individuals connect information learnt through social experiences to previous knowledge and then construct new understanding and knowledge (Donald, Lazarus & Lolwana, 2006).



The internalisation of "meaning and higher-order mental processes, such as reasoning and problem solving, are arbitrated by psychological tools, such as symbols, language and signs(Van der Veer, 1997). Therefore, the language in this theory serves as a tool that mediates the process of constructing meaning and understanding one's environment; it allows an individual to express ideas and ask questions. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory emphasises the importance of others, the social context and language in the cognitive development of an individual. This notion pushed teachers to re-examine the extent to which learning takes place in their classes, which led to teachers seeking to adopt teaching approaches that accommodate all learners (Aljohani, 2017).

Vygotsky's sociocultural theory as the study's framework provided structure within which the relationships among variables and constructs of the study are explained. The theory was used to understand how learners learn and what to consider in exploring the interaction between learners and teachers in multilingual classrooms. The sociocultural theory explains in detail how learning takes place, which guides and informs the use of the approaches teachers perceive as effective in multilingual classroom teaching. The theory provides a framework in understanding the role of a teacher, teaching approaches and resources as mediators in the process of multilingual teaching and learning

1.9 **RESEARCH PARADIGMS**

The researcher intended to regenerate knowledge about the study using the research paradigms reflected below.

1.9.1 Epistemology

The study was based on the perceptions, experiences and interactions in the classrooms between teachers and learners. Therefore, the constructivist paradigm was used as a fundamental frame to guide the investigation. Constructivism is a research paradigm that assumes that reality is multiple, subjective and is derived through real-life experiences. According to the constructivist, "understanding and meaning of the world is formed through interactions with others and through historical and cultural norms that operate in individuals' lives" (Creswell, 2013, p. 25). This paradigm aims to understand the world through the diverse subjective personal experiences of individuals. Social constructivism states that constructed knowledge varies, thus, a researcher should try to understand the complex context from the perceptions of those who live in it should attempt to understand the complex context



from the perceptions of those who live in it (Mertens, 2010). This supports the notion of Morgan and Sklar (2012), who argue that human experiences can only be understood from the perspectives of others. Therefore, researchers have to position themselves in the context of the study to ensure adequate interpretation of the meanings others have about the world (Maree, 2012). Constructivist's philosophy was relevant for the proposed study because it focuses on the process of constructing meaning through intersections of learners with the guidance of skilful teachers, which provided me with practical experiences of teachers' multilingual teaching practices.

1.9.2 Methodological Approach

A qualitative approach was employed as a mode of inquiry in gaining information and understanding the perceptions of teachers and their experiences in inclusively adopting approaches that accommodate linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms. Qualitative research is a scientific approach that seeks to establish the meaning of a phenomenon from the perceptions of the participants (Creswell, 2014). According to Mack, Woodsong, MacQueen, Guest and Namey (2005), qualitative research is effective in obtaining culturally specific information about the views, values, behaviours, and social contexts of a particular population.

Similar to the constructivist paradigm, the qualitative approach holds a view that different groups construct diverse perspectives, and that these social constructions influence people' understanding of the world they live in (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). In attempting to understand the multiple dimensions of meaning people construct, I used emerging questions, procedures and collected data in the participants natural setting (Creswell, 2014). I chose a qualitative approach this study because it uses more flexible and inductive research methods that enable adaptation and freedom of intervention between the researcher and teachers (Willig, 2013).

1.10 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The researcher intends to understand and gather rich descriptive data about the best multilingual teaching approaches used by teachers studied by using the following qualitative approaches

1.10.1 Research Design

The research was undertaken using a collective case study to gain greater insight into the research topic. A collective case study design is a qualitative approach in



which the researcher explores multiple bounded systems over time and through detailed, in-depth data collection (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). According to Nieuwenhuis (2007), case study research is a systematic analysis of a set of related events intended at describing and explaining the phenomenon of interest. This systematic inquiry of issues studied in collective case study research involves "indepth data collection involving multiple sources of information (e.g., observations, interviews, audio-visual material, documents, and reports)" (Creswell, 2007, p.157).

A collective case study offers "a multi-perspective analysis in which the researcher considers not just the voice and perspective of one or two participants in a situation, but also the views of other relevant groups of actors and interaction between them" (Nieuwenhuis & Smit, 2012, p. 75). According to Johnson and Christensen (2012), a collective case study approach strives towards a holistic understanding of a complex system and the way components of a specific system operate together. Since a case study views a case as a system influenced by both the internal and external context, it enabled me to examine the context of the cases to describe and understand the function of teachers (cases) in multilingual classrooms (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2007).

1.10.2 Selection of Participants

The cases studied were selected using convenience and purposive sampling. Convenience sampling is non-random sampling where members of the target population are selected based on meeting a certain practical criteria, such as easy accessibility, and willingness to participate in the study (Etikan, Musa & Alkassim, 2016). Etikan et al. (2016), contend that purposive sampling is a non-random sampling technique that depends on the researcher's judgement to ensure that participants have the characteristic needed in the research. Two resourceconstrained primary schools situated in a township called Orange Farm in Gauteng, a mainstream school and a full-service school were conveniently selected for the study. Furthermore, nine teachers from the schools were recruited to form two focus groups, with four participants in one focus group and five in the other focus group. Two teachers, who appeared more knowledgeable and active in using multilingual teaching approaches in each focus group (FG), were selected for semi-structured interviews and classroom observations. The selection of participants (two teachers) for classroom observations and semi-structured interviews was based on the following criteria:



- The teacher must teach languages, math, social science, natural science & technology;
- The teaching must occur in a classroom of learners who speak over five different home languages among them; and
- The teachers must frequently use multilingual approaches during lessons in their classrooms.

1.11 DATA COLLECTION

The research utilised multiple sources of data collection methods starting with FG interviews, followed by individual semi-structured interviews and then classroom observations to understand the dynamics of teaching multilingual classrooms.

A focus group is a form of group interview in which participants interact through discussing a topic provided by the researcher (Cohen et al., 2007). Focus group discussions were used to gather collective information about the views of individuals about a problem. It enabled me to understand how other people interpreted key terms, and agreements and disagreements with the issue raised (Mertens, 2010). I formulated six semi-structured interview questions for the group discussion, and the discussion took an hour for each school. The advantage of using semi-structured questions for focus groups is that important questions are covered in the discussion while it also enables additional insight, as participants are flexible to debate the topic further (Mack et al., 2005).

According to Knowles, Nieuwenhuis and Smit (2009, p. 87), "a semi-structured interview is a two-way conversation in which the interviewer asks the participant questions to collect data and to learn about the participant's ideas, beliefs, views, opinions and behaviours". One teacher was selected from each focus group to participate in an individual semi-structured interview. The one on one semi-structured interviews with these teachers sought to provide in-depth information about teachers' ideas and knowledge on using multilingual teaching strategies to accommodate learners in their classrooms. The benefits of a semi-structured interview are that there is direct contact between the researcher and the participants, so questions can be clarified, and participants can elaborate on their answers (Cohen et al., 2007).

According to Nieuwenhuis," observation is the systematic process of recording the behavioural patterns of participants, objects and occurrences, without necessarily questionin them" (Nieuwenhuis, 2007, p. 83). I had a first-hand observation of how



teaching takes place in multilingual classrooms. This observation provided an insider viewpoint of multilingual practical teaching and learning interactions that occur in a multilingual classroom. To refrain from disturbing the dynamics of the setting, I played the role of an observer as a participant. The classroom observations occurred during each teacher's normal lesson periods in their respective schools. To ensure that all important information or data was recorded, field notes, an audiotape and images were used. The advantage of observation is that the researcher can record the information as it happens (Creswell, 2014). Research questions and the purpose of the study were used to guide the study regarding what was relevant to the topic during classroom teaching observations.

1.12 DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

Thematic analysis was used because it sought to discover and understand situations by using interpretations, as is intended in this study. Thematic analysis is a systematic method for recognising, organising and analysing data patterns in qualitative research (Braun & Clarke, 2006). It involves identifying common threads of meaning, categorising the meanings and clustering them into themes to describe the phenomenon (Willig, 2013). The data was analysed using an inductive approach of thematic analysis, which means that I approached the data without trying to fit it into an existing coding frame (Willig, 2013).

The first step taken towards analysing the data was to become familiar with the data collected by reading and re-reading the text several times. Secondly, I identified meaningful and interesting features from the data collected (coding process) by writing notes about the text and using highlighters to indicate the potential patterns on the notes. Thereafter, codes were used to identify similarities in the data to construct themes. The themes identified were reviewed and defined; the process involved checking if the themes worked in relation to the topic, which enabled me to make a connection between themes. The created themes were given names that reflected the meaning of the theme to the reader. The advantage of thematic analysis is that it provides rich, detailed and complex information about the phenomenon studied (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

1.13 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Research in psychology should be conducted on the principle of respect and protection of human rights among participants (Elias & Theron, 2012). A qualitative approach requires the researcher to actively participate in the context studied and



use a data collection method that involves institutions and human beings. Therefore, I ensured that the research adhered to the ethical codes (American psychological Association principles and University of Pretoria ethics guidelines) that guided this research. Before undertaking the study, I ensured that the welfare and rights of the participants were safeguarded through assuring them that they would be indemnified against physical and emotional harm (benevolence).

The participants and institutions were fairly treated and were not subjected to any discrimination. The participants were not misled into participating in the study. A consent form was distributed to participants explaining in detail what the research was about and what was expected from the participants. Furthermore, the identity of participants remained anonymous throughout the study, and learners' identities during the observations were also kept confidential. Lastly, participation in this study was voluntary, thus the participants were aware that they had a right to withdraw from the study at any stage.

1.14 OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS

Chapter 2: Literature review. This chapter provides a review of the literature consulted concerning the study. Relevant sources include books, journal articles and internet databases. Aspects that are discussed the chapter are the concept of multilingual education, the value of language policy in multilingual and language acquisition and language learning. The chapter further discusses teaching approaches for learners in multilingual classrooms, and challenges teachers face in teaching multilingual classrooms as well as the study's theoretical framework.

Chapter 3: Research methodology. This chapter focuses on the research process, including the research design and research methodology. I selected a qualitative approach to gain an in-depth understanding of the participants' views and experiences concerning the study topic. I selected a qualitative approach because it uses more flexible and inductive research methods that enable adaptation and freedom of intervention between the participant and the researcher. The chapter further provides a detailed explanation of the data collection methods that were selected, which included semi-structured interviews, FG discussions and classroom observations.

Chapter 4: Data analysis and findings. This chapter focused on providing information on how data was collected and presents the data collected from FG



discussions, semi-structured interviews and classroom observations. It compares and contrasts the research findings with related literature and research.

Chapter 5: Conclusion and recommendation. This chapter provides a summary of the research report. It concludes the study by reviewing each chapter and discussing the study findings. The chapter further discusses the contributions of the study, the limitation of the study as well as recommendations for further research.

2 CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter focuses on reviewing the literature on various perspectives on effective multilingual teaching approaches in primary schools and the challenges of teaching linguistically diverse learners. The concepts of multilingualism and multilingual education are first discussed, followed by a discussion of the effect of the Home Language in learning the language of instruction. Furthermore, the chapter reviews various teaching approaches used in multilingual classrooms and the language in education policy in relation to promoting and facilitating equal access to education for learners who come from different language backgrounds.

Multilingualism is a common phenomenon in many countries, including SA. Schools had to adapt to meet the individual needs of every learner in multilingual classrooms and ensure that educationally acceptable standards are maintained. UNESCO (2003) states that in ensuring that learners have a solid foundation for learning and equal access to education (curriculum) and are accommodated in multilingual education, the education system should develop a language policy aimed at addressing all levels of education and integrate it in a national plan for education. In an attempt to promote multilingual education, the South African Constitution (Act 108 of 1994) adopted the Language in Education Policy (LiEP) in 1997.

Despite the promotion and facilitation of the LiEP in schools, most parents still prefer English as the medium of instruction for their children rather than their mother tongue (MT) (Childs, 2016). Many countries, especially those in Africa, the Middle East and South America, choose English as a medium of instruction in schools (Hooijer & Fourie, 2009). According to Childs (2016), this is because English in these countries is perceived as the language of international commerce and a valued method of communication globally. This perception has contributed to the many children in South African schools learning through the medium of a second language.

With regard to schools that provide education in the HL in the foundation phase (FP) as stipulated in the LiEP, the transition from using HL as a medium of instructions to using English as LoLT in the fourth grade occurs with challenges(Lemmer et al., 2012). It then becomes a challenge when their teachers, who have had limited training and skills in teaching multilingual classrooms, must now find new ways to teach them. (Hooijer & Fourie, 2009). Therefore, in a multilingual country like SA, it is



imperative for teachers to recognise the nature of discursive practices of learners in their classrooms and to be able to draw on the diverse linguistic resources that promote or enable learning.

2.2 THE CONCEPT OF MULTILINGUALISM AND MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION

Multilingualism is a widely used term and depends on the context of the study. Odugu (2011), defines multilingualism as the knowledge and the use of separate languages, as a pluralisation of monolinguals. According to Corson (1990, as cited in Heugh, 2013), multilingualism is the use of more than two languages in every sector of the community. Multilingualism, therefore, refers to the knowledge and use of more than one language in daily life.

Multilingual education implies that two or more languages are used a mediums of instruction. According to UNESCO (2016), multilingual education involves the use of more than three languages in education, the mother tongue, a regional language and an international language. Multilingual education encourages and emphasises the importance of access to education in both a learner's HL and a language of a wider communication relevant to the individual's context. Stoop (2017, p.22) argues that, "even though multilingual education encompasses multiple practices and challenges at different times for different individuals in various parts of the world, it plays a crucial role in protecting and maintaining different languages, speech communities and people's identities".

The development of multilingual education in SA post-apartheid aimed to support nation-building and socio-economic equity (Heugh, 2013). The LiEP followed an additive approach to multilingualism, which recommend that learners' HLs should be used for learning and teaching in the first three years of school and that a first additional language (FAL) should be introduced and taught as a subject.

2.3 MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION RELATED STUDIES

A study conducted in American school found that most teachers welcomed the inclusion of multilingual learners in their classes and believed that this process created a positive learning environment (Reeves, 2006). The teachers claimed that the inclusion of second language learners in the mainstream was not beneficial to learners and that learners shouldn't be mainstreamed until they have attained a minimum level of English proficiency (Reeves, 2006). Haukas' (2016) research suggested that teachers were eager to use both their existing and learners' linguistic

16



knowledge to learn the LoLT and were positive about learning and teaching activities that had the potential to promote multilingualism. However, when the teachers were asked whether they make use of these activities, less than one-third of the teachers claimed to do so (Haukas, 2016). These controversial findings thus suggest that teachers acknowledge the inclusion of multilingual learners and are willing to adapt their teaching approaches and resources to accommodate the learners.

Studies have shown that many teachers internationally and locally welcome the inclusion of multilingual teaching in schools; however, they believe accommodating multilingual learners is a challenge. A study conducted by Hooijer and Fourie (2009), indicates that despite South African policies supporting multilingual pedagogy, teachers preferred learners at a certain level of proficiency of LoLT before being accepted into the school.

A study conducted in eight schools across three provinces (Limpopo, Mpumalanga and North West) suggested that teachers were experiencing problems in teaching multilingual classrooms (Mathey, 2010). The results revealed that 84% of teachers with multilingual classes experienced problems because the teachers were not proficient in dealing with multilingualism (Mathey, 2010). These teachers preferred to use the language of wider communication within a single medium mode of delivery. On the other hand, 24% of the respondents indicated that they have attempted to solve the problem by using language that is common to both the learners and teacher when explaining concepts, using dictionaries and asking another learner to explain the work. Some teachers indicated that their perception of the language issue was negative and that they merely kept on teaching in the language of wider communication, namely English or Afrikaans. These studies thus suggest that language is a problem for the overall effectiveness of teaching and learning across the board, regardless of level of schooling and linguistic proficiency of the learner.

2.4 THE IMPORTANCE OF HOME LANGUAGE IN THE ACQUISITION OF LOLT

The DoE developed or adapted policies and educational programmes that support and promote multilingual education in South African schools (Heugh, 2013). The LiEP promotes multilingualism through the establishment of the use of home (African) languages in teaching and learning, which promotes educational models such as MT-based multilingual education. According to UNESCO (2003), the term HL includes the following elements: The language(s) that one has learnt first; the



language(s) one identifies with or is identified as a native speaker of by others; the language(s) one knows best, and the language(s) one uses most (UNESCO, 2003,p.15). Stoop (2017) states that HL or a MT-based multilingual model means that a child begins their education in their mother tongue and afterward changes over to second additional languages.

Similarly, the LiEP stipulates that all learners should be "competent in their additional language while their home language is maintained and developed, all learners should learn African language for a minimum of 3 years by the end of the general education and training band" (DoE, 1996, p.3). The education policy further states that to ensure a smooth acquisition of an additional language, a minimum of three years is granted to schools to teach learners in their HL. The advantage of learning in the HL during the first three years of school is that it serves as the foundation of lifelong learning and a bridge to second language acquisition (Makgamatha et al., 2013). According to Stoops (2017), there is sufficient evidence that the MT-based multilingual model is advantageous and a promising solution for addressing language gaps and inequalities experienced in education, especially in countries with multilingual communities, like SA. UNESCO (2003) also states that research from various countries has shown that learning to read and write in one's HL promotes access to literacy and enhance the ability to read and write in other languages .Therefore, this implies that learners who have access to the Mother Tongue -based education are better trained with language skills in their home languages and other national languages.

UNESCO (2003), concludes that mother-tongue education promotes the acquisition of knowledge and it enhances the development of a learner's cognitive, and social skills. Stoop (2017) also asserts that languages should not be taught separately, but should rather be cooperated with each other. Therefore, it is essential to consider children's home languages in developing curriculums and in the teaching and learning context. Successful acquisition in one's own language or first language enables an individual to learn a new language more easily.

These studies reveal the value of HL in learning a new language, which should be considered in teaching learners from diverse language backgrounds. For this reason, it is also important to further explore the departmental consideration and accommodation of the existence of multiple languages in classrooms.



2.5 THE VALUE OF LANGUAGE POLICY IN MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION

The development of the South African constitution contributed to improvements and fairness in the promotion of an effective and non-discriminatory education system (Lemmer et al., 2012). Therefore, the South African Constitution, (South African Constitution Act 108 of 1996, 1997), as well as the SASA and the National Education Policy Act (South African National Education Act, Act 27 of 1996, 1997) inform the LiEP. In recognising SA's cultural diversity and in promoting multilingualism, the South Afr. Constitution Act (Act 108 of 1994) declared 12 official languages. Chapter 1(6) of the constitution further states that the language policy must acknowledge the historical diminished use of South African people's indigenous languages, then take practical measures to uplift and advance the use of these languages (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010). Heugh (2013), states that LiEP document was informed by a fundamental principle that "school students should have equal access to the curriculum and that this might be best achieved through a national system of active multilingual education" (DoE, 1996, p.4).

The model of supporting additional languages, therefore, had to be established and implemented in the education system. This means that learners should receive home language education combined with well-resourced teaching of a second language, in order to provide equal access to meaningful education in South African schools (Makgamatha et al., 2013). This means that all learners should become fluent in at least two languages, their HL and one additional language. The reason for this is to allow learners to consolidate their language and other skills through being proficient in their HL. They can then use that to scaffold to other skills in other languages.

Schools in SA use single, dual and parallel medium modes to implement the notion of additive multilingualism (Phathudi, 2015). Single medium education refers to the provision of education in one language only, across grades, either an HL (Sepedi) or the language of wider communication (English). According to Mathey (2010), learners who are taught in their HL benefit much more from this mode of education than those who are taught in the language of wider communication. Dual medium education involves a stable and systematic exposure to two languages of learning and teaching where different languages are used alternatively as the LoLT in the same class, for example, a learner will receive education in both Sepedi and Afrikaans (Mathey, 2010).



Parallel medium education is side-by-side language provision and means that learners are taught separately based on their choice of language (Childs, 2016). South African schools mostly use a single and parallel medium of education. Even though these modes are used to promote the use of different languages in school and to accommodate linguistically diverse learners, other learners are disadvantaged as they may not be proficient in the language chosen by their schools. This presents a mismatch in the intention of language policy, which is to uphold the right of every learner to be instructed in in the language of his choice through the implementation of the policy.

The aims of the Language in Education Policy are:

1. To promote full participation in society and the economy through equitable and meaningful access to education;

2. To pursue the language policy most supportive of general conceptual growth amongst learners, and hence to establish additive multilingualism as an approach to language in education;

3. To promote and develop all the official languages;

4. To support the teaching and learning of all other languages required by learners or used by communities in SA, including languages used for religious purposes, languages which are important for international trade and communication, and S. Afr. Sign Language, as well as alternative and augmentative communication;

5. To counter disadvantages resulting from different kinds of mismatches between home languages and languages of learning and teaching; and

6. To develop programmes for the redress of previously disadvantaged languages. (DoE,1996, p.2).

However, the most important consideration is to retain proficiency in the home languages while providing support to acquire additional languages. Therefore, SASA section 6 (1) states that "the SGB is responsible for choosing an appropriate language policy for the school and for promoting multilingualism through using more than one LoLT and offering additional languages as fully-fledged subjects"



(DoE,1996,p.3). Furthermore, the LiEP specifies that all learners should be proficient in their additional language while their HL is preserved and developed.

The LiEP stipulates that all learners should have an equal opportunity to learn an African language for a minimum of three years by the end of the general education (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010). Most schools, therefore, offer at least two home languages in the FP depending on the language dominance of their learners. Even though indigenous languages are recognised as official languages in SA, not all learners are accommodated in an HL chosen by their respective school in their first three years of schooling. Some learners have the benefit of a match between their main language (home language) and the medium of instruction of the school, but other learners do not have this privilege. (Childs, 2016). Another challenge presented by the freedom of schools to choose their own LoLT, is that some schools choose to use English as their medium of instruction from Grade 1 onwards. In such schools, English is widely preferred and perceived to be the language of upward mobility (Taylor & von Fintel, 2016).

According to Heugh (2017), "the primary issue of concern for educators then becomes how best one can utilise and develop students' multilingual capabilities in order to achieve the kind of proficiency in an international language that permits entry to the socio-political and economic mobility of aspiration" (p.209). In an attempt to address the transition from using a HL to using English in the fourth grade, different approaches are used. The use of these different approaches thus provides an opportunity for translanguaging and functional multilingual learning to enhance learners' skills in reading and writing extended texts written in English, Afrikaans and African languages (Heugh, 2017). The development of IE in 2001 was another initiative of ensuring that a range of diverse learner's needs is accommodated in schools (Phadudi, 2015). Through this policy, the department encourages the use of different teaching approaches, methodologies and resources in the classroom. This is termed curriculum differentiation and adaption (Engelbrecht et al., 2013).

2.6 LANGUAGE ACQUISITION AND LANGUAGE LEARNING

"Language described in the curriculum assessment policy statement (CAPS) is a tool for thought, communication, it is also cultural and aesthetic means commonly shared among a group of people to make better sense of the world they live in" (Nel, 2013, p. 212). According to Xamlashe (2015, p. 43) Garcia and Sylvan (2011, p. 387)



assert that "learning to use language effectively enables learners to acquire knowledge, to express their identity and idea, to interact with others and manage their world." Therefore, the main focus in teaching multilingual classrooms should be on negotiating challenging educational content with all learners by enhancing their language practices and skills, rather than simply teaching one standard language (Lemmer et al., 2012).

With reference to the LiEP in SA, in addition to an African language as a HL, most schools use English as the LoLT. This might possibly be one of the contributing factors to challenges faced by educators in multilingual classrooms. According to the census (Statistical SA, 2011), only 9.6 per cent of the South African population consists of English mother-tongue speakers (Nel, 2013). Despite this, at least 65 per cent of South African schools use English as their LoLT; this leads to many learners using English in learning, a language they are not proficient in and are only exposed to in school.

Cummins' Basic Interpersonal Communication Skills (BICS) and Cognitive Academic Language Proficiency (CALP) concepts provide detailed explanation of language acquisition in multilingual (Landsberg, 2016). classrooms Interpersonal communication skills refer "to the universal aspects of language proficiency that enable speakers of a particular first or HL to communicate successfully with other speakers of the same language" (Phatudi, 2015, p.44). This implies that BICS are language skills acquired through informal learning, through social interaction and peer communication. According to Landsberg (2016), BICS can be used as a foundation to acquire CALP, as it contains high fluency words and simple grammatical construction.

CALP "refers to the student's ability to understand and express, in both oral and written modes, concepts and ideas relevant to succeed in school" (Landsberg, 2016, p.44). CALP is used for academic purposes, and it requires intensive support from teachers because it takes much longer to develop (Phatudi, 2015). Both BICS and CALP are important in the South African context. This is because the language education policy emphasises the importance of teaching learners in their early years of schooling in their HL, while at the same time being introduced to English FAL. This suggests that languages are connected in multiple ways and influence one another in a dynamic system (Haukas, 2016). This statement is evident in international and local studies which indicated that without adequate support of the development of

© University of Pretoria



first language in school, second language learners did not do well academically and these negatively affected the learners' first language and second language development (Lemmer & van Wyk, 2010). Therefore, it is important to know and understand the process of learning another language and the relationship between HL and language of acquisition when teaching in multilingual classrooms.

In the process of learning the target language, learners create their own language system called interlanguage, which is made up of materials from the target language as well as the learner's home language (Bylund & Oostendorp, 2013). The learner links both languages, compare them and use the results of the analysis to create their own hypothesis or ideas of how the target language works. However, this newly created interlanguage grammatical rules differ with those of the target language because the process of understanding and mastering the target language is continuous (Bylund & Oostendorp, 2013). A learner then can only be proficient in the target language when the interlanguage grammar starts to resemble the target language. In some cases, especially in South African schools, this may take time and be challenging because most learners only have the opportunity to use the target language at school and during lessons (Lemmer et al., 2012).

Another aspect that needs to be explored in teaching multilingual classrooms is how learners use the knowledge of other languages when they learn a new language. As mentioned, individuals draw on their knowledge of the existing language to learn another language. The use of another language is called cross linguistic influence. According to Bylund and Oostendorp (2013), cross-linguistic influence occurs naturally in both first language and second language learning, and it can be easily observed. This can be observed when we listen to people speaking a second language (L2), we can sometimes guess what the HL is. This may be because their pronunciation contains phonetic features from their HL, or they may translate phrases directly from their HL.

Crosslinguistic influence is mostly beneficial if the structure of the language being transferred is equivalent (a match) to the target language. This explains the difficulties linguistically diverse learners face in acquiring the LoLT in schools. A mismatch in language structures makes it difficult to transfer the element of the HL to the LoLT. Therefore, "rather than attempting to maintain learners' languages in isolation, teachers should help learners to become aware of and draw on their existing knowledge" (Haukas, 2016, p.2). Learners should be taught to utilise their



own experiences from previous language learning when learning a second language. However, the challenge of drawing on a previous existing language to acquire the LoT is that the second language is only used in the classroom and for academic purposes.

2.7 TEACHING APPROACHES FOR LEARNERS IN A MULTILINGUAL CLASSROOM

Garcia and Sylvan (2011, p. 390) argue that "multilingual classrooms of today are characterized by an increased plurality of practices. Rather than constructing educational models for a particular type of student who uses one language or the other, we must learn to focus on teaching individuals within multilingual classrooms in which the plurality is created by paying attention to the singularity of the individual student". Multilingual approaches allow all learners to use their HL in the classroom through the same language peer interaction alongside the target language, for instance, English. Furthermore, it can be used to discuss explanations, clarify questions and think through problem-solving strategies. Various studies (Childs, 2016; Garcia & Sylvan, 2011; Mbatha, 2015), suggest that the following are the most used teaching approaching in multilingual classrooms.

2.7.1 Translanguaging

Translanguaging refers to "multiple discursive practices as seen from the perspective of speakers themselves. Translanguaging entails using one language to reinforce the other in order to increase understanding and in order to augment the pupil's ability in both languages" (Garcia & Sylvan, 2011, p. 392). Childs (2016), suggests that "the process of translanguaging uses various cognitive processing skills in listening and reading, the assimilation and accommodation of information, choosing and selecting from the brain storage to communicate in speaking and writing" (p.30).

According to Garcia and Sylvan (2011), translanguaging involves two concepts languaging and transculturation. The former refers to the discursive practices of people (a product of social action), and transculturation is the complicted and multidirectional process in cultural transformation, that also involves well as to the questioning of the knowing subject (Childs, 2016). Translanguaging also includes code-switching; however, there is a slight difference in this discursive practice as it involves the process in which bilingual learners make sense of classroom activities using two languages, such as reading, writing, discussing, taking notes and, signing (Garcia & Sylvan, 2011). While code-witching involves "a shift between languages in



context and it includes translation" (Garciá, 2011, p. 147), Childs (2016) defines translanguaging as a practice utilised by multilingual people to shift between the languages that they know to communicate in a social context.

In SA, translanguaging can be seen as a systematic and pedagogical way of connecting the LoLT and the language of learners (Childs, 2016). Lewis, Jones and Baker (2012) state that the process of translanguaging require an individual to use different cognitive processing skills in listening and reading, to integrate information and select specific information from the brain to communicate in speaking and writing. This suggests that using translanguaging in a multilingual classroom requires a more comprehensive understanding of the language of learners as it progresses from simply finding the equivalent vocabulary to determining and conveying meaning.

The process of using translanguaging in a multilingual classroom promotes and facilitates more effective learning, for example, learners are encouraged to use the knowledge and skills acquired from one language to assist them use another language (Lewis et al., 2012). This notion suggests that language should not be viewed as a collection of discrete languages but should be understood as one system, which involves the communication of ideas, culture, perception and development. Childs (2016) states that the way language is used will depend on the classroom environment and diversity of languages spoken by the learners and the teachers. This means that the teacher should be aware of the structures and rules of languages spoken by learners in their classrooms.

The challenging aspect about translanguaging is that it requires teachers to be bilingual or multilingual; hence teachers who operate with a monolingual orientation often reject it (Lewis et al., 2012). However, tranlanguaging is still observed within the classrooms of teachers who operate with monolingual orientation, as translanguaging focuses more on the learner's use of two or more languages than the teacher's role within the classroom (Lewis et al., 2012). Heugh (2013) mentioned that these could be teachers who want the LoLT, to be used exclusively and disregard learners' home or first languages. This attitude may limit or prohibit effective teaching and learning and successful acquisition of another language. However, the situation differs for bilingual teachers who find it understand and attest to the value of translanguaging in multilingual classrooms.



Teaching in multilingual classrooms needs to shift from seeing the main language of a learner as a threat or problematic to perceiving it as a new language acquisition resource (Heugh, 2013). Teaching in diverse schools requires teachers to acknowledge that learners in their classrooms, especially in semi-urban schools bring with them, cognitive, linguistic social and skills that have been developed in their first language (Lemmer et al., 2012). However, teachers, as mentioned by Heugh (2013), perceive these learners as having no language at all. These perceptions contribute to issues of schools failing to address the needs of learners. It also leads to a delay in a learner's access to academic knowledge and leaving them unable to participate fully in the school.

With regard to teachers' perceptions on teaching practices in multilingual classrooms, Childs (2016) states that translanguaging is a discursive practice that depends on the views of people and the understanding of how cultural meanings are formed.

2.7.2 Code-Switching

2.7.2.1 Theoretical basis of code-switching

According to Mbatha (2015), code-switching is found in theories that acknowledge the association between mother tongue (L1) and additional Language (L2). Cummins developed the linguistic interdependence model to explain symbiosis between the two sets of languages that interact when communication is stressed. The 'developmental interdependence' hypothesis suggests that the development of second language (L2) skills is somewhat influenced by the skills already developed in L1 at the time when exposure to L2 begins. (Mbatha, 2015).

These deliberations suggest that skills developed in one language are useful for the acquisition of a second language and are transferable to the second language. In relation to this statement, code-switching requires knowledge and skills in all the languages involved, as well as higher-level of guiding systems to manage the switch across the languages. (Makoe & McKinney, 2014). According to Wei (2011), Code-switching is not merely a combination and mixture of languages, but it is creative strategies by a teacher and learner in a multilingual classroom. This creativity involves the teacher's ability to "choose between following and flouting the rules and norms of behaviour, including the use of language, and to push and break boundaries between the old and the new, the conventional and the original, and the acceptable and the challenging" (Wei, 2011, p. 374).



Considering the fact that many learners are not exposed to English in their home and only get exposure in the school context, code-switching becomes a way by which teachers and learners negotiate an understanding in classrooms (Makoe & McKinney, 2014). Code-switching has been discouraged in the education system because of the perception that it may lead to language acquisition delay and other studies conducted in SA suggest that using code-switching in lessons is considered a sign of limited English proficiency (Mbatha, 2015). However, a study conducted in Gauteng schools suggested a different outcome than predicted by these perceptions, as a teacher who was initially objected to code-switching in the English class conceded that code-switching might assist to explain grammar rules and other aspects of the English language framework to learners (Mbatha, 2015).

According to Mbatha (2015), there is research that suggests that code-switching is frequently used in classrooms to impact knowledge by using linguistic resources available. Code-switching is not only used effectively in language lessons, but it proved useful to foster mathematical understanding in high school learners. Similar to the result in other studies, teachers reported that they both experienced stress when communicating in English because learners were not proficient in English as LoLT (Wei, 2011). The advantages of code-switching are that it is beneficial in the early stages of teaching and learning L2. It also accommodates the transition from the foundation phase to the intermediate phase in schools that use the HL during the first three years of school (Childs, 2016). This finding suggests that even though code-switching is not formally used (not included in assessments or writing), most teachers in multilingual classrooms use it.

2.8 MULTILINGUAL EDUCATION CHALLENGES

According to Gracia and Sylvan, in the USA, teachers acknowledge that multilingualism is a government priority, as reflected in school curricula and official policy documents (Garcia & Sylvan, 2011). The same is certainly true of SA with our eleven official languages, although, as pointed out in Chapter 2, the literature was still silent about many elements of the teaching of multilingual classrooms in SA. Garcia and Sylvan's study conducted in an American school revealed that most teachers welcomed the inclusion of multilingual learners in their classes. However, other researchers claimed that the inclusion of second language learners in the mainstreams was not beneficial to learners and that learners shouldn't be mainstreamed until they had attained a minimum level of English proficiency (Reeves, 2006). Another study in SA revealed that teachers admitted that they had

27



difficulties with teaching multilingual classrooms and claimed that they are not skilled to deal with a complex pedagogy as multilingual teaching (Hooijer & Fourie, 2009).

Ferreira-Meyers (2017) said that the greatest challenge of multilingualism was the lack of political determination on the part of the government to implement and support multilingual education. The teachers in Ferreira-Meyers' (2017) study, which was conducted is SA reported that one of the major challenges in the implementation of multilingual teaching is limited training of teachers in African languages and the lack of training resources teacher education. According to a teacher in this study, the only qualifications they have is the BA, Bed, higher diploma in education and no training and skills for promoting multilingualism in education. All teachers in Ferreira-Meyers (2017) study describe the approaches they used in teaching learners as communicative and learner-centred. Furthermore, they reported that they attempted to instil awareness in learners of differences and similarities between language and culture.

Another teacher in Garcia and Sylvan's (2011) study reports and shares that she draws a parallel between English and the learner's HL to show similarities and differences between these languages. The participants emphasised a relative teaching approach to introducing new vocabulary, which involves teaching strategies such as translation to develop an inter-language awareness (Garcia & Sylvan, 2011). Ferreira-Meyers' (2017) study focused on equipping teachers with the necessary skills to promote and facilitate the use of various educational approaches in teaching multilingual classrooms. Ferreira-Meyers (2017) stated that "multilingual education should encourage awareness of how people learn the languages they have chosen, and an awareness of the capacity to use transferable skills in language learning. To ensure that this awareness occurs, teachers should gain the capacity to perceive the relationships that exist among languages spoken in their classrooms, and develop an integrated teaching approach to language education (Ferreira-Meyers, 2017).

Therefore, teachers need to encourage an attitude of teamwork between learners, acknowledge and promote the use of more than one language to enhance communication in the classroom (Ferreira-Meyers, 2017). Encouraging cooperation between learners is only possible if teachers have the academic background to understand their learner's multilingual background better. In short Ferreira-Meyers' (2017) study suggest that change in attitude towards multilingual education is



required to build multilingual competence, and this can only be done with appropriate teaching methods and approaches.

According to Makoe and McKinney (2014), despite the post-apartheid transformation, in official discourses, English continues to be perceived as an influential means of communication, while multilingual practices are not equally recognised as resources and rendered ineffective for, teaching, learning and communication purposes. A teacher reported that she avoided using African languages in teaching the classroom as these 'interfered' with learners' accurate spelling and pronunciation of English words (Makoe & McKinney, 2014). Guzula, McKinney and Tyler (2016), describe how a mismatch between the language of the learners and the language of the curriculum and the teacher is a problem education.

Despite development and implementation of policies that support multilingual teaching in schools, multilingual teaching might still be a challenge because of a mismatch between the school chosen home language and home languages of most learners (Childs, 2016). Teachers must struggle with reconciling the curriculum's demands with the LiEP in their teaching. Makgamatha et al. (2013) revealed that curriculum and assessment development in SA go ahead without an effective mechanism for including the guidelines of the LiEP; hence there are limited teaching resources assigned to multilingual teaching specifically.

There is a gap between the learners and the teacher during lessons because of curriculum demands, language diversity in classrooms and the relationship between these concepts (Makoe & McKinney, 2014). This gap was evident in a mathematics lesson with a well-versed teacher in the language of the curriculum teaching Xhosa speaking learners; when it was a challenge to make the curriculum accessible to the learners. According to Guzula et al. (2016), translanguaging gave learners opportunities to make connections between registers for mathematics as well as enhancing receptive skills in the new register of multilingual education. Even though the teacher was not competent to handle the situation, she included different registers in her teaching, which allowed the learners to identify with the content taught.

2.9 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Vygotsky sociocultural theory, based on constructivist's principles, emphasises the social environment as a mediator of learning and development. Knowledge in social constructivism is perceived as the product of language usage and social interaction,



and thus is a shared, rather than an individual experience (Woolfolk, 2010). Vygotsky supports the notion that development depends on a person's interaction with other people and the tools his context and culture make available to help these people form their own meaning (Vygotsky, 1986). The theory states that individual thinking and meaning-making is socially constructed and influenced by an individual's social interaction with their environment and in the process, both the individual and the environment are changed (Zhou & Brown 2015).

Vygotsky emphasises the importance of language on individual development. According to his theory, language is a psychological tool that enhances other mental functions and is also one of these mental functions, which undergoes cultural development (Vygotsky, 1986). Vygotsky's theory in education further argues that to learn a second language at school and to develop one's home language involve two different processes (Moll, 1990). However, according to Moll (1990), Vygotsky acknowledged that learners use word meanings developed in the home language while learning a foreign language. This implies that although learners are in a process to learn a different language, they use knowledge from their own language to translate and understand the foreign language. Therefore, scholars agree that advanced knowledge of a learner's first language assists in the learning of a second language, which should be considered in teaching multilingual classrooms (Moll, 1990).

The concept of mediation is an essential element of the Vygotskian sociocultural perspective. According to Mutekwe (2018), Vygotsky describes mediation as a learning situation aided by a mediator who ensures that the learners understand the content at stake. There are different forms of mediators: psychological; semiotic; material; and other human beings. The use of language and multilingual teaching strategies serve as a mediator in the learning process to develop the learners' skills from lower to higher cognitive functions (Kozulin, 2012). Learners can be mediated by using multilingual teaching strategies through the ZPD to understand content taught in lesson.

The ZPD is one of the most recognised and widely used concepts within educational research, in studies about teaching and learning about various subject matters including reading, writing and the acquisition of a second language. According to Kozulin, Gindis, Ageyev and Miller (2003), the Zone of proximal development is the distance between an individual's current developmental levels as determined by

© University of Pretoria



independent problem solving and the level of potential development through the assistance of an adult. Thus, the notion of a ZPD in every learner involves the distance between learner's current developmental state and their potential development (Kozulin et al., 2003).

The ZPD describes new, unfamiliar tasks for a learner that he or she is capable of learning in a socio-cultural context with the right guidance and assistance. Therefore, ZPD is an important facet in teaching linguistically diverse learners because it describes tasks that learners cannot do on their own but could do with the assistance of more competent adults, which will include using multilingual teaching strategies. According to Muthivhi and Broom (2009), this implies that teachers must continuously evaluate a learner's progress in a learning activity and adjust the teaching strategies as required.

Vygotsky's theory provides the researcher with a tool to explore and understand the process of using language to mediate learning in a multilingual classroom. Most importantly, it provides a framework to explore teaching strategies used, with the view of discovering how these strategies promote effective teaching and learning in multilingual classrooms

2.10 SUMMARY

While the LoLT is a major consideration in the extent and nature of learner's participation in classroom interaction, the teacher's pedagogical approaches and styles are also very important in motivating learner involvement and participation in the teaching-learning process. This is evident in studies that explored and debated the use of multilingual teaching strategies such as code-switching and translanguaging in multilingual classrooms, which were not only effectively used in language lessons but also proved useful to foster mathematical understanding in high school learners (Childs, 2016; Garcia & Sylvan, 2011; Guzula et al., 2016; Mbatha, 2015).

Multilingual education-related studies across countries suggest that teachers welcomed the inclusion of multilingual teaching in schools; however, they preferred learners to have a certain level of proficiency in LoLT (Haukas, 2016; Hooijer & Fourie, 2009). According to Makoe and McKinney (2014), the challenge of using multilingual teaching strategies in teaching and learning is that classes are characterised by linguistically diverse learners, and some of the learners are not proficient in the school's chosen first language. Therefore, all learners may not have

31



the benefits of being taught in their first language but rather in the dominant language of the majority of learners in their respective schools or their community (Childs, 2016).

According to Brock-Utne, Desai, & Qorro (2003, p. 149), "the use of teachers' and learners' HL can also be seen as the best way of mediating learning by the teacher; in a language that everyone knows well". To ensure that this awareness occurs, teachers need to gain the capacity to understand and mediate the structures that exist among languages in their classrooms and adopt an integrated approach to language education in the curriculum (Ferreira-Meyers, 2017).

2.11 CONCLUSION

Although the stated goal of the education policy is to promote multilingualism and facilitate inclusive education that caters for the diverse learning needs of learners in South Afracan schools, many learners who are limited in their English proficiency are taught through the medium of English, instead of their HL. Even though schools have the right to choose their preferred LoLT in the first three years of learning, which is normally the HL of the majority of learners, some learners, however, are not accommodated with the chosen language. Teachers are then responsible for ensuring that their teaching practices are designed to be inclusive and to cater for multilingual classrooms. The challenging part about teaching in a multilingual classroom for teachers is meeting the demands of the curriculum and ensuring that individual learners are accommodated in their teaching. This according to Heugh (2013) is challenging because of a mismatch between language education policy and the curriculum intentions.

UNIVERSITEIT VAN PRETORIA UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA <u>YUNIBESITHI VA PRETORIA</u>

3 CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter describes the research process and procedures followed in this study. The chapter begins by reiterating the aims of the study. It then moves on to describe the research paradigms, including the advantages and potential challenges of the study. The chapter continues by outlining and discussing methodological approaches and case design, as well as their benefits for the study. The chapter then lists and explain the data collection and documentation tools and procedures used in the study. Lastly, it explains the data analysis and interpretation, followed by concluding remarks as well as a discussion of ethical considerations.

3.2 PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The study explored and investigated primary school teachers' perspectives on effective multilingual teaching approaches. In this process it was guided by the following primary research question:

"What are primary school teachers' perspectives on the effective multilingual approaches for inclusively teaching linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms?"

The following sub-questions guided the study further:

- How do teaching practices adequately accommodate linguistically diverse learners in classrooms?
- What challenges do teachers experience in teaching multilingual classrooms?
- How equipped are teachers in teaching multilingual classrooms?

3.3 RESEARCH PARADIGMS

3.3.1 Epistemology

Epistemology is the study of the process of knowing. To investigate and understand the degree to which knowledge is constructed, the study used a constructivist paradigm (Yin, 2011). According to Creswell, constructivism is an interpretive framework that assumes that reality is multiple, subjective and is derived through real life experiences (Creswell, 2014). According to the constructivist, "meaning of the world is formed through interactions with others and through historical and cultural norms that operate in individuals' lives" (Creswell, 2013, p. 25)

© University of Pretoria



Therefore, this paradigm endeavours to understand a phenomenon as it is perceived from the subjective experiences of individuals of the phenomenon in their teal-life settings. Social constructivism states that constructed knowledge vary; thus, a researcher should attempt to understand a complex phenomenon from the perceptions of those who live in it (Mertens, 2010). This supports the notion of Maree (2012), who argues that "human experience can only be understood from the viewpoint of other people" (Mahlo, 2011, p.13). In social constructivism, researchers have to position themselves in the context of the study to ensure adequate interpretation of the meanings others have about the world. Constructivist uses open-ended questioning in questioning the meaning people attach to objects and things in their environment and in addressing the process of interaction among individuals. Social constructivists emphasise the importance of language, consciousness and shared meaning in creating a new understanding of reality (Nieuwenhuis, 2007).

3.3.1.1 Advantages of Constructivism

The constructivist paradigm provided me with a platform to investigate, explore and understand teachers' perceptions in multilingual teaching and learning approaches through the use of strategies such as participative observation and focus group interviews. The key assumptions of constructivism in the education context is that human beings construct meaning through engagement with the world they live in and knowledge is constructed based on individual cultural and historical perceptions (Creswell, 2014). This assumption thus serves as a foundation for understanding teachers' perceptions as it may be shaped by their own culture (which involves language differences) and experiences (historical) in the use of different multilingual approaches.

The constructivist paradigm was relevant for the proposed study because it focuses on the process of constructing meaning through intersections of learners with the guidance of skilful teachers, which provided me with practical experiences of teachers' multilingual teaching practices. Constructivism emphasises the importance of the role learners' play as active participants in learning and teachers as mediators and supporters who need to tailor and adjust their teaching approaches to cater for the needs of learners. Another advantage of the constructivist paradigm is that data collected can be traced to their sources, and logic can be used to arrange interpretations (Mertens, 2010).



The constructivist paradigm required the researcher to investigate the proposed study and observe activities in the participants' natural settings, in a classroom during normal school subject periods. I tried to minimise observation time to suit all participants and ensure objectivity in the research.

3.3.2 Methodological Approach

The study aimed to gain as complete an understanding of the participant's views and experiences related to the topic as possible. For this reason, this study took a qualitative approach. Qualitative research approaches differ and depends on the nature of the study, Creswell (2014) defines qualitative research as a scientific approach that seeks to establish the meaning of a phenomenon from the views of the participants (Mfuthwana, 2016). It is a participatory approach used in research to gain empathetic insight into other's viewpoints, beliefs and attitudes. According to Johnson and Christensen (2014), the qualitative approach holds a view that different groups construct different perspectives of a phenomenon, and these social constructions again from their side affect people's understanding of their world. The constructivists' view of knowledge in this approach is that is socially constructed through language and interactions.

Qualitative research strives to collect, integrates and represents data from a variety of sources (Tracy, 2013), and was therefore suited for the requirements of this study. The study aimed to obtain views and perspectives of teachers as the key participants on their understanding of multilingual approaches and effective use of the approaches in schools. The method enabled me to explore and investigate the topic through direct and detailed observation of the interactions and relationship between teachers and learners in a classroom, and the ways teachers managed teaching linguistically diverse learners.

3.3.2.1 Advantages of qualitative research

The benefits of a qualitative methodology approach for the study are that it provides complex documentary explanations of how people experience a given researched issue (Mack et al., 2005). According to Leedy and Ormrod (2005), a qualitative approach provides a means through which the researcher can evaluate the usefulness of particular practices, policies and innovations. Another advantage of a qualitative approach is the flexibility of the open-ended questions that can be used, which encourages participants to answer using their own words rather than choosing



from fixed options. The researcher can also encourage participants' responses on topics of interest by asking why and how questions.

A qualitative approach requires the researcher to get involved in the context studied. It involves observation, selecting participants and getting permission from participating institutions. The research dealt with the sensitive subject of culture and the language of participants and some concepts used in the context differed for each participant. I tried to get detailed explanations of the meaning of words and concepts used to avoid misinterpretations. Furthermore, I ensured that ethical codes were strictly considered and cultural differences were acknowledged. I ensured that my personal feelings and opinions on the topic explored did not influence the research process.

3.4 RESEARCH DESIGN: COLLECTIVE CASE STUDY

Multilingual teaching involves using multiple teaching approaches aimed at ensuring that learners understand the concepts taught and achieve the learning outcomes set for them in that particular subject. For this reason, the study used a case study design to explore the dynamics of multilingual teaching and learning. According to Johnson and Christensen (2014), a case study design is a qualitative approach in which the researcher explores a multiple bounded systems over time and through detailed, in-depth data collection. The emphasis in the case study is on examining a set of related "events, activities and processes of a bounded system, as it exists in its natural settings" (Hays & Singh, 2012, p. 44).

Case study research involves the use of multiple sources of information, such as observations, documents, interviews and reports (Ishak & Bakar, 2014). Case study research could involve one phenomenon which can be addressed through a single case study, or several phenomena which requires a collective case study. I chose to use a collective case study to gain as much insight as possible into the research topic. (Creswell, 2014). According to Hays and Singh (2012), a collective case study involves the use of multiple cases in investigating a more general or broad phenomenon or population. Since the case study views a case as a system influenced by both the internal and external context, it enabled me to examine the context of the case and assisted in understanding the function of teachers in multilingual classrooms. A collective case study offers "a multi-perspective analysis as it allows the views of other relevant groups of actors" (Maree 2012, p. 75), as well as "the interaction between groups in a specific situation and how they make



meaning of the phenomenon studied", rather than just the perceptions of individuals (Creswell, 2007).

3.4.1. Advantages of Case Study Design

I chose a case for this because it allowed me to explore the topic in the natural settings of the participants. It utilised multiple data collection sources, which provided in-depth information on the topic being studied. Furthermore, the use of a multiple case study allowed different perspectives about the best multilingual teaching approaches in schools to be considered. Case studies accommodate the complexity of social truth through representing conflicts between the viewpoints held by participants and attending to social situations (Cohen et al., 2007). Secondly, case study research allows generalisations about the issue studied mostly because of "the use of multiple sources and techniques in the data gathering process" (Nieuwenhuis, 2007, p. 76). Thirdly, the collective case study provides important comparative information (similarities and differences) about the phenomenon studied (Johnson & Christensen, 2014).

3.5 SELECTION OF SCHOOLS AND PARTICIPANTS

The selection of schools was based on the cases that offered the greatest accessibility and opportunity to learn. I conducted this case study at two primary schools. The first school (School A) was a full-service school and the second school (School B) was a mainstream school. A full service school is an ordinary school which is specially resourced and orientated to address a full range of barriers to learning in an inclusive education context. A mainstream school is an ordinary school that meets the needs of learners who do not have special needs and integrate learners into the normal class routine. The schools were chosen according to the category they fall in, e.g. full service school and mainstream school. They are both resource-constrained schools situated in a township called Orange Farm in Gauteng, the township is characterised by a diversity of nationality, language, cultural origins and socio-economic background.



Table 3-1: Participants' details

Name Code	Gender	Highest qualification	Teaching experience	Current Grade taught	Data Collection Method
School	А				
SAP1	М	MEd(educatio nal psychology)	4 years	4 and 5	Focus-group discussion, semi- structured interview, classroom observation
SAP2	Μ	BEd (senior & FET phase)	2 years	6 and 7	FG discussion
SAP3	F	BEd (intermediate phase)	3 years	5 and 6	FG discussion
SAP4	Μ	BEd (intermediate phase)	2 years	5 and 6	FG discussion
School	В				
SBP1	F	BEd Honours (foundation phase)	14 years	3	FG discussion, semi-structured interview, classroom observation
SBP2	F	BEd (foundation phase)	2 years	3	FG discussion
SBP3	F	BEd Honours (intermediate phase)	18 years	4 and 5	FG discussion
SBP4	F	BEd (intermediate phase)	16 years	5 and 6	FG discussion
SBP5	F	BEd (senior & FET phase)	13 years	5 and 6	discussion

Nine teachers in total participated in the study, four of the teachers were from the full-service school teaching in the intermediate phase, and five teachers were from the mainstream school teaching in the foundation and intermediate phase. Convenience sampling was used to select the schools and participants because I teach at the full-service school and provide support to the mainstream school. The reason for choosing these teachers is that I was interested in teachers who taught languages and who were exposed to diverse languages in their classrooms. Nine teachers were selected based on the learning area the teachers taught, which includes languages, math, Social science, natural science and technology. This

© University of Pretoria



enabled me to explore teacher's experiences and perceptions in using multilingual teaching approaches across school learning areas, especially subjects taught in English. Convenience sampling is non-random sampling where members of the target population are selected based on meeting a certain practical criteria, such as easy accessibility, and willingness to participate in the study (Etikan et al., 2016). I then used purposive sampling to select one respondent from each FG. The selection of individual teachers from each FG was based on the participants' active responses on using multilingual teaching approaches in their classrooms. Purposeful sampling is a non-random sampling method that depends on the researcher's judgement regarding the characteristics of the respondents and whether the chosen sample provides accurate information to better understand the phenomenon (Bless & Higson-Smith, 2000).

3.6 DATA COLLECTION AND DOCUMENTATION

The study used three qualitative data collection methods, namely classroom observations, semi-structured interviews and FG discussions to gain detailed insight into the topic. The process of collecting data started with two separate FG discussions, one for each school, and then two teachers, one from each FG, were selected for interviews. Lastly, I observed the interaction between the teachers and their learners during lessons.

3.6.1 Focus Group Discussions

A focus group discussion is a form of an interview with three to twelve participants marked by guided group discussion, interview and answer, and an interactive dialogue (Tracy, 2013). The primary purposes of these FGs discussions in the study were to generate data from the interactions among participants who shared a common experience. The focus group discussions enabled me to understand how other people interpret key terms, agreements and disagreements with the issue raised (Mertens, 2010). The interactive nature of FG discussion produced insight on the beliefs, attitude and experiences of individual participants that could not be obtained from individual interviews. Thus, this data collection format was suitable for gaining a group perspective on the uses of multilingual teaching approaches to enhance learning in primary schools.

The focus group discussions allowed me to explore the perception and understanding of a group of teachers on teaching and using multilingual teaching approaches to accommodate learners from diverse language backgrounds in their



classrooms. There were two FGs; the first FG consisted of four intermediate teachers from a full-service school. The second FG consisted of five foundation and intermediate phase teachers from a mainstream school. The FG discussions were conducted for one hour per group. The FG discussions were tape-recorded with the full permission and consent of the participants, to ensure the reliability of the information collected during the interview and FG discussions.

The advantage of using FGs as a source of data collection for this study enabled direct contact between the researcher and participants. This direct contact created opportunities for me to ask follow-up questions and clarifying questions. According to Tracy (2013), FG discussions are useful in an educational setting because they provide a less expensive and less time-consuming way to reach a larger number of participants.

3.6.2 Semi-structured Interviews

I chose one participant from each FG to participate in a semi-structured interview and classroom observations after reviewing the data gathered during the FG discussion. Two semi-structured interviews took utilising the same interview schedule for both participants. To ensure that all important information or data was recorded, I used field notes and audio recorder. The individual semi-structured interviews with the selected teachers provided in-depth information on their ideas and knowledge on multilingual teaching and the approaches that can be used in accommodating learners in their classrooms

According to Maree, "an interview is a two-way conversation in which the interviewer asks the participant questions to collect data and to learn about the participant's ideas, beliefs, views, opinions and behaviour" (Maree et al., 2009:83). A semi-structured interview allows the researcher to share the world of the interviewee and gain an insight into the participant's construction of knowledge and reality (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). According to Creswell, semi-structured interviews utilise an interview protocol that functions as a guide and starting point for the interview experience (Creswell, 2014). The benefits of semi-structured interviews are that it allows the researcher to communicate directly with the participants, so questions can be clarified, and participants can elaborate on their answers (Hays & Singh, 2012). Furthermore, additional questions can be included to tailor the interview to fully accommodate the interviewee's perceptions and experience



3.6.3 Classroom Observations

In addition to the information that was gathered from FG discussions and individual interviews of teachers from two primary schools, I observed lessons presented by the two selected teachers in their respective classrooms. Classroom teaching observations took place during each teacher's regular lesson periods in their respective schools. One lesson was observed in each school and it took 45 minutes. The grades and learning areas that were observed during classroom teaching observation are; in school A, grade 4 natural science and technology lesson was observed, while grade 3 English lesson was observed in school B. The purpose of this classroom observation was to get "an insider perspective of the group dynamics and behaviours of different settings" (Naiken, 2016, p. 33) and the practical teaching and learning interactions that occurs in a multilingual classroom.

The classroom observation data consisted of detailed descriptions of teachers' activities, actions, teaching approaches and resources, and the full range of interpersonal interaction between teachers and learners (Patton, 2001) during the classroom observations. "Observation is a systematic process of recording the behavioural patterns of participants, objects and occurrences without necessarily questioning them" (Nieuwenhuis, 2007, p. 83). It is based on using the researcher's senses and intuition to gather data related to the topic within natural everyday interaction of the phenomenon studied.

To refrain from disturbing the dynamics of the setting, I played the role of an observer as a participant. Observer as a participant means that the researcher's primary role is an observer with some interaction with the study participants. To ensure that all important information or data was recorded, I used field notes, an audio recorder and images. The advantage of observation is that the researcher can record the information as it occurs (Creswell, 2014). Observation allows the researcher to capture and understand the context rather than relying on others' conceptualisation. To avoid researcher subjectivity in recording data, I used the research questions and the aims of the study to guide the process regarding what is relevant to the topic during classroom teaching observations.

3.7 DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

The process of collecting data, analysis and interpretation in qualitative research is interlinked. This study was analysed through thematic analysis. Thematic analysis is a systematic qualitative analysis method utilised to analyse classifications and

41



present themes or patterns (Alhojailan, 2012). According to Willig (2013), thematic data analysis involves identifying common threads of meaning, categorising the meanings and clustering them into themes to describe the phenomenon. It provides an opportunity for the researcher to obtain a broader understanding of the potential of any issue because it provides a detailed description of explicit and implicit ideas. An inductive approach of thematic analysis was used, which implies that the data collected began with precise content and then moved to wider generalisations (Alhojailan, 2012).

I chose thematic analysis because it is appropriate for a study that seeks to discover and understand themes using interpretation, as was intended in this study (Tracy, 2013). The collected data was transcribed and analysed using codes, categorised and sorted into themes. The advantage of thematic analysis is that it provides rich, detailed and complex information about the phenomenon studied (Braun & Clarke, 2013). "A thematic analysis process analyses the data without engaging pre-existing themes, which means that it can be adapted to any research that relies only upon participants' clarifications" (Blacker, 2009, p.83). The benefit of using inductive thematic analysis is that it is interested in the participant's experiences and views (Willig, 2013). I realised that my personal experience and views on the topic could have influenced the selections of codes and themes. Therefore, the research questions were used to identify codes and categorising the codes (themes), which assisted in ensuring that the process of analysing data was not subjective.

Data analysis involved the following steps

Step1. Data processing and preparation. The process involved transcribing audio recordings of interviews and sorting and arranging the data into different types; FG discussion, classroom observation and semi-structured interviews.

Step 2: Read or look at all the data. Re-read the transcription to get a general sense of the information and reflect on its overall meaning. Triangulate the information from various sources to understand teachers' perception of effective teaching strategies for multilingual classrooms.

Step 3: Coding. The Coding process involved organising the data into categories and assigning labels or codes to the identified categories.

Step 4: Collate codes to generate a description of themes for the research study. The generated themes display multiple perspectives of effective multilingual teaching strategies from the participants.



Step 5: The interpretation of the findings were discussed.

3.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

A qualitative approach requires the researcher to actively participate in the context studied and use data collection methods that involve institutions and human beings. For this reason, ethical considerations within qualitative research require careful consideration of applicable guidelines, contextual ethics and the ethics of working with research participants. I ensured that the welfare and rights of the participants were safeguarded through assuring them that they would be insured against physical and emotional harm (Elias & Theron, 2012). I ensured that the participants were fully appraised of their right to informed consent and the research procedure and gave their consent before participating in the research or any data collection took place. Informed consent was also obtained from all relevant authorities before the research was initiated. The consent form also requested permission to use an audio recorder during the FG discussion and semi-structured interviews as well as taking pictures during lesson observations.

Furthermore, I ensured that participants were not misled into participating in the study. I assured the participants that they would remain anonymous throughout the study, and any personal information obtained from the participants during the study would be kept confidential. They were assured that participation in this study was voluntary and they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time for any reason without any prejudice to themselves.

3.9 QUALITY CRITERIA

According to Nowell, Norris, White and Moules (2017), it is important for researchers utilising qualitative research to ensure the trustworthiness of their study, to ensure that readers can satisfy themselves that the findings of the study are worthy of their attention. The trustworthiness of a study depends on the transferability, credibility, dependability and confirmability of the study. (Nowell et al., 2017).

3.9.1 Credibility

According to Lincoln and Guba (1985) the credibility of a study is determined when the study presents meaningful and correct descriptions of human experiences which can also be recognised by others. The researchers also suggested several mechanisms to improve credibility, including lengthy engagement, persistent observation member checking and data collection triangulation (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). To safeguard the credibility of the study, I used multiple sources of data



collection, namely FG discussion, semi-structured interviews and classroom observations and member checking. I also relied on the guidance of an experienced researcher, namely my supervisor, to guide me throughout the study. In addition, I also used member checking to verify that the information given by the participants was reflected correctly, and to offer participants the opportunity to add further information.

3.9.2 Dependability

Dependability is a parallel to the concept of reliability, and "refers to the extent to which research findings can be replicated with similar subjects in a similar context" Merriam (1998, p. 205, as cited in Leedy & Ormrod, 2005). Dependability can be accomplished through a logical, traceable, and clearly documented research process (Tobin & Begley, 2004). To improve the reliability of the study, I ensured that all FG discussion and interviews were recorded. I also provided detailed information about the aim and objectives of the research, the research strategy and methods. I documented the procedures of my case studies to present more reliable evidence

3.9.3 Confirmability

Confirmability is the degree to which readers can satisfy themselves that the findings of the research are supported by the data, and the data reflect the reality as perceived by knowledgeable participants rather than just the view of the researcher. According to Nowell et al. (2017), confirmability involves ensuring that the research findings are derived from the data, which require the researcher to show how conclusions have been reached. I ensured confirmability by sending the participants the transcriptions of the interviews to review and assist with reviewing the data collected by the looking into all the data collected by the instruments such as the FG transcripts, interview transcripts, and the observation notes affecting themselves, and reaffirmed the information provided before concluding on the findings

3.9.4 Transferability

Transferability refers to the ability of readers of the research to make judgments based on differences and similarities when associating the research situation to their own (Mertens, 2010). According to Creswell, to ensure transferability, a rich and detailed description of the data and the whole research process should be made available to the readers to enable them to compare it with their own context being studied and make an informed decision about the applicability of the findings to their



research (Creswell, 2014). To ensure transferability, I provided sufficient details on this research so that readers could compare the context of the research setting and participants with their research parameters.

3.9.5 Triangulation

"Triangulation involves checking information that has been collected from different sources for consistency of evidence across sources of data" (Mertens, 2010, p.183). The use of multiple methods assisted in comparing data to decide if it corroborates and thus, to validate research findings (Creswell, 2014). Triangulation was attained by collecting the data from different sources using a variety of procedures, including: FG discussions, semi-structured interviews, and classroom observation.

3.10 CONCLUSION

In this chapter, I discussed the methodological design, research design, data collection, and method of data analysis and interpretation in detail. The various data-gathering instruments such as FG discussions, observations and individual interviews were also presented and discussed. The procedures of data collection, the sampling techniques and the choice of the sample size were also discussed.



4 CHAPTER FOUR

PRESENTATION OF RESULTS AND FINDINGS

4.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents the study results obtained from the data collected during the FG discussions, semi-structured interviews and classroom observations, on perspectives of the primary school teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches. The first section of the chapter provides a detailed definition of the themes and subthemes identified from the data analysis, including inclusion and exclusion criteria for each theme. The chapter continues by providing an in-depth discussion of the study results and summarises the key issues emerging from the data analysis.

4.2 **RESULTS OF THE THEMATIC ANALYSIS**

Four main themes and ten sub-themes were identified during the TA process. The identified themes emerged from the teachers' perceptions of effective multilingual teaching strategies in primary school. The chapter is structured according to the four themes.

- > Theme 1: Perceived effective multilingual teaching approaches
- > Theme 2: Competence in teaching in multilingual classrooms
- Theme 3: Challenges teachers experience in teaching multilingual classrooms
- > Theme 4: The benefits of using multilingual teaching approaches

Table 4.1 below outlines the different themes, sub-themes and the data sources used in the study. The themes and subthemes presented in the table are defined, including the inclusion and exclusion criteria.



Themes	Subthemes	Data	sources			
		Focus	s Groups	Semi- indivio intervi		Classroom observations
		1	2	1	2	
Effective multilingual teaching approaches	Code switching Visual aids and					
	concrete objects Peer teaching Rhymes and songs	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Competence in teaching in multilingual classrooms	Personal experience and developmental training Conduct research			Х	Х	
Challenges teachers experience in teaching multilingual classrooms	Systemic challenges Learning skills challenges	X	Х	Х	Х	Х
The benefits of using multilingual teaching approaches	Academic benefits social benefits	Х	Х	Х	١X	Х

Table 4-1: Visual representation of themes, subthemes and sources of data

4.3 PRESENTATION OF RESULTS

Table 4.2 below presents a summary of the codes utilised to describe the participants and the referencing system of the verbatim quotes used in this chapter. Pseudonyms such as SAP1, SAP2, and SBP1 were used to denote participants during the verbatim quotes. In coding, the coding system begins with data source code, then the participants code followed by line number, for example, an individual interview from School A is (INT1 SAP1, line 12-15) while data from FG discussion teacher 2 from school B is (FOC2 SBP2, line 26-31).

Schools	Participants	Code	Focus group codes	Semi structured individual
				interview codes
School A	Teacher 1	SAP1	FOC1 SAP1	INT1 SAP1
	Teacher 2	SAP2	FOC1 SAP2	
	Teacher 3	SAP3	FOC1 SAP3	
	Teacher 4	SAP4	FOC1 SAP4	
SCHOOL	Teacher 1	SBP1	FOC2 SBP1	INT2 SBP1
В	Teacher 2	SBP2	FOC2 SBP2	
	Teacher 3	SBP3	FOC2 SBP3	
	Teacher 4	SBP4	FOC2 SBP4	
	Teacher 5	SBP5	FOC2 SBP5	



4.3.1 Theme 1: Effective Multilingual Teaching Approaches

Table 4.3 reflects the criteria for selection for multilingual teaching approaches.

Table 4-3: Criteria for selection multilingual teaching approaches

Working definition	
Multilingual teaching strategies: inno	ovative teaching techniques and special
methodologies oriented on developing learn	ers' understanding of language use, writing,
reading and arithmetic skills (Gvelesian, 2017)	
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not
to perceived effective teaching approaches	relating to perceived effective teaching
in multilingual classrooms	approaches in multilingual classrooms

This section starts by reporting on the results related to teachers' perceptions on the effective multilingual approaches for inclusively teaching linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms by reporting selected prescribed quotes from the interview.

The teachers in this study explained that they perceived using any teaching strategies as a tool to accommodate individual learner's learning needs. According to the teachers, using multilingual teaching approaches starts with planning lessons and differentiating their lessons according to their learners' home languages.

"Accommodating my learners mean being flexible and being able to engage in those other languages in my lesson. This simply means that the strategies I am going to use and the languages need to vary" (INT1 SAP1, line 19-23).

According to Gracia and Sylvan, "teaching in today's multilingual/multicultural classrooms should focus on communicating with all students and negotiating challenging academic content with them by building on their different language practices, rather than simply promoting and teaching one or more standard languages" (Garcia & Sylvan, 2011, p. 387). Therefore, multilingual teaching approaches enable teachers to engage in and negotiate challenging content with all linguistically diverse learners in their classroom.

The teachers who participated in this study identified the following multilingual teaching approaches: Code switching, visual aids and concrete objects, peer teaching and rhymes and songs as effective approaches for inclusively accommodating learners from linguistically diverse backgrounds. These four perceived multilingual teaching approaches will now be presented as subthemes.

48



4.3.1.1 Selection for code switching

Table 4.4 reflects the criteria for selection for code-switching

Working definition				
Code-switching: "The alternative use by	bilinguals or multi-linguals of two or more			
languages in the same conversation" (Phatudi	, 2015).			
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not			
to code-switching perceived effective	relating to perceived effective teaching			
teaching approaches in multilingual	approaches in multilingual classrooms			
classrooms				

The most common multilingual teaching approach that was evidently used across schools and subjects was code-switching. The participants used code-switching to explain the concepts learners did not understand, and to explain tasks instructions. According to Mbatha (2015), code-switching might be advantageous to explain grammar rules and other aspects of the English language framework. It is also beneficial in the early stages of teaching and learning L2, and it accommodates the transition from the FP to the intermediate phase in schools that use HL during the first three years of school. Hence teachers use it frequently. The teachers commented:

"Code switching is one of the approaches I use as mam has just said is one of them , where you have to explain in their home language, for example when I am teaching in English I have to explain in Sesotho, isiZulu, isiXhosa and Sepedi. Most of the time I found that code switching helps".(FOC2 SBP3. Line 32-37)

"I strongly believe in code-switching because if you code switch 60% of the challenges are minimised" (FOC1 SAP4, line 163-164.

Code switching is not simply a combination and mixture of languages, but it is creative approaches by teachers in a multilingual classroom; it requires knowledge and competence in all the language involved (Wei, 2011). The teachers indicated that they find creative ways to use language and to circumvent or remove learning barriers experienced in their classrooms

"When I realise that they don't understand I switch to their languages, at least a few that I know" (INT2 SBP1, line 15-16).

© University of Pretoria



"I know how to speak isiZulu and Sesotho, then there and then I engage them in English even though it is a little bit difficult to understand English" (FOC1 SAP1, line 63-65).

These teachers recognise that it is challenging for their learners to understand and participate in lessons when the lessons are just taught in English; thus they switch from the LoLT to learners' home languages during their lessons. The teachers confirmed that they perceived code-switching as a useful teaching approach that supported learning where learners experience language-related learning barriers.

"Using their own language, that is support on its own because most of the time or what we know in our system is that if we teach, we teach in English, that's the medium of instruction. So for the mere fact that you are you are code switching into Tswana , that simply means that you are supporting them". (INT1 SAP1, line 53-59)

In addition, the teachers provided explanations or examples of how they used codeswitching to accommodate the learners.

"Code switching really helps a lot, for example if you say book and a learner does not know what book is if you do not have the means the means to have visual aids then code switching is saying the word in their home language in accommodating their learning and the way of understanding". (FOC2 SBP4. Line 42-48)

"The only thing I do is to teach in English when we do Geography, I first teach in English and then elaborate in isiZulu and Sesotho because there are learners who don't understand English" (FOC1 SAP2, line 68-72).

"I speak in English and after allow them to ask questions in Sesotho and encourage them to ask question in Sesotho or isiZulu but we use English" (FOC1 SAP2, line 74-76).

During observation, it was evident that code-switching did not only enhance learners' understanding, but it promoted active learning. Once the teacher switches languages and asks questions in learners' home languages learner engagement in the lesson increases.



"As much as we need to familiarise them with English we also need to code switch when the need arises. It is not the matter of speaking English whereas they don't understand anything" (FOC1 SAP4, line 123-126).

Teachers recognise that they cannot use the same teaching approaches for all lessons, but they should adapt their approaches to best fit the lesson content. Furthermore, the teachers reported that their role in teaching multilingual classrooms is to ensure that learners acquire the skills and knowledge their lessons focus on; thus, code-switching enables learners to reach their full potential. The findings indicate that code-switching is a commonly used strategy in teaching multilingual classrooms. These findings also correlated with Mbatha's (2015) study which suggested that code-switching was frequently used in classrooms to impact knowledge by using linguistic resources available.

4.3.1.2 Subtheme 1.2: Visual aids and Concrete objects

multilingual classrooms

Table 4.5 reflects the criteria for inclusion for visual aids and concrete objects.

Table 4-5: Criteria for inclusion, visual aids and concrete objects

Working definition			
Visual aids and concrete objects: Any material used to illustrate or provide a visual and			
concrete representation of information in classrooms such as but not limited to pictures,			
micrographs, models and charts (Shabiralyani, Hasan, Hamad and Igbal, 2015)			
Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not		
to visual aids and concrete objects perceived	relating to visual aids and concrete objects		
as an effective teaching approach in	perceived as an effective teaching approach		

in multilingual classrooms

In addition to using code-switching, teachers use visual aids and concrete objects to accommodate learners from multilingual classrooms. According to teachers that participated in this study, visual aids are more effective in accommodating learners who experience difficulties with writing and reading, and it enhances learners' understanding during lessons.

"By using visual, I use words and pictures because I believe when I child sees a picture and a word they learn better" (INT2 SAP1, line 11-13).



"Using visual, I use words and picture because I believe when I child sees a picture and a word is able to understand what I am talking about" (INT2 SBP1, line 62-64).

"One strategy that I use is making sure that I have enough visual aid so that I can show them. Also I usually say what to you call this in Shona?" (FOC2 SBP3. Line 50-52).

In addition, other teachers incorporate the use of visual aids with abstract objects to accommodate linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms.

"The approaches that I usually use to teach and support these learners, the one I quoted first of visual things like pictures, and I also make sure that they interact with some of the things which I want them to learn". (FOC2 SBP3. Line 91-95)

"For an example, we are teaching mathematics in isiZulu in the Foundation Phase, so in order for them to understand the number 5 there is an abstract thing that I put together that they know these number when I count it is up to 5". (FOC2 SBP3. Line 95-99)

Another teacher incorporated code-switching with visual aids. It is important to use teaching approaches that can be used to discuss explanations, clarify questions and enable learners to think through how to tackle problems.

"I think if you can use a picture based on what you are teaching it must talk to them in their own language. For instance if you are teaching body parts you can place a picture, instead of writing English you write their own language. Instead of saying a hand, you say 'isandla." (INT1 SAP1, line 70-75)

In addressing the challenges teachers and learners experience during the transition from Grade 3 to Grade 4, which in most schools require learners to change language of teaching to English, teachers use visual aids to explain concepts and enhance learners' proficiency in the LoLT (English).

"So we end up using approaches that first teach basics, like sounds and using visual aids like pictures and words all together so they grasp word building in English" (FOC1 SAP3, line 197-199).



According to Mbatha (2015), incorporating code-switching and visual aids is beneficial in the early stages of teaching and learning with an unfamiliar LoLT, and it accommodates the transition from the foundation phase to the intermediate phase in schools that use HL during the first three years of school.

4.3.1.3 Subtheme 1.3: Peer teaching

Table 4.6 reflects the criteria for inclusion for peer teaching.

Table 4-6: Criteria for inclusion, Peer teaching

Working definition

Peer teaching: a process in which learners with more abilities help less able learners to understand the subject matters in pairs or small groups cooperatively. It involves a teacher mandating learners from similar social or language groupings, to help each other to learn and learning themselves by teaching (Al-Qadi, Al-Oun and Al-Barri, 2013)

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not
to peer teaching perceived as an effective	relating to peer teaching perceived as an
teaching approaches in multilingual	effective teaching approaches in multilingual
classrooms	classrooms

Other teachers mentioned that they believe that learners learn better when they interact with their peers and actively engage in discussions with their peers. The teachers indicated that they could only speak a few languages and not all the languages spoken in their classes, therefore they are involving other learners to assist some learners in their HL to enable them to accommodate all of their learners.

"Another strategy is to mix them. The high performers are mixed with the weak ones so that they can assist each other" (FOC1 SAP1, line 144-146).

"They can be able to assist those who do not understand the concepts. They will be able to assist them in their own language" (INT1 SAP1, line 86-88).

"you realise that they still do not understand you ask one or two learners who understand to explain to the rest" (FOC1 SAP3, line 152-154).

The teachers recognise that they are not competent in all languages the learners speak in their classroom, thus using peer teaching works for them across subjects. Learners can explain to their peers in their HL and on their level of understanding



"Yes, it works because 50% do isiZulu and the other is Sesotho so if you mix them they are able to explain to each other" (FOC1 SAP1, line 149-151).

"A learner may feel a little bit free when a peer says to her madam means this and this. They do well when their peers help them, they understand much better, in their language and level. So peer teaching in various languages works for me". (FOC2 SBP5. Line 176-181)

The teachers further provided examples of peer teaching in their classrooms.

"Grade 5 learner was supposed write in expanded notation the learner was writing in words I asked Themba grade 4 learners to assist in interpreting the questions in the learner's home language. The learner got 46 out of 50 through the help of a grade 4 learner". (FOC1 SAP1, line 155-160)

Apparently, the teachers in this study make use of peer teaching to accommodate all the learners in their lessons, irrespective of the teacher's limited proficiency in other languages. This indicates that teachers make efforts to analyse and understand their learners when they plan.

4.3.1.4 Subtheme 1.4: Rhymes and songs

Table 4.7 reflects the criteria for inclusion for rhymes and songs.

Table 4-7: Criteria for inclusion, rhymes and songs

Working definition

Rhymes and songs: as pedagogical tools, are a form of language that use tones and rhythm in order to facilitate learning

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
	Any comment made by participants not relating to rhymes and songs perceived as an effective teaching approaches in multilingual classrooms

According to the teachers, using songs and creating rhymes in their lessons doesn't only enhance learners' understanding but promote active learning as well. Learners learn better and recall what was taught easier when they are involved in the lesson.

© University of Pretoria



"Songs and rhymes is another strategy that I use because I believe that as they sing these songs they able to understand and sometimes I allow them to formulate their own rhymes in some of the topics". (INT2 SBP1, line 89-92)

"I realised that involving them through songs, dramatizing some of the things. With that they learn much better. They are able to remember because they have interacted" (FOC2 SBP3. Line 150-152).

"that's what works the most when they engage in the lessons they tend to remember when they are less stressed, when they do something for fun, then they can recall much easier" (FOC2 SBP4. Line 163-166).

The teachers mentioned that although rhymes, songs and drama are used in teaching multilingual classrooms, they recognise that they are more effective and practical in teaching FP and Grade 4 learners.

"Rhymes and music, songs, just for them to learn the songs that we use it is much easier and practical for the Foundation Phase most of the time. They are able to learn with joy" (FOC2 SBP4. Line 117-120).

It is clear from this data that the teachers that participated in this study understood their learners and were willing to do as much as possible to ensure that they create a conducive environment for linguistically diverse learners to reach their full potential. The teachers indicated that they use teaching approaches that allow every learner to use their HL orally in the classroom through peer interaction and alongside target language (English).

4.3.2 Theme 2: Teachers' Perception of their Competence in Teaching Multilingual Classrooms

Table 4.8 reflects the criteria for inclusion for teachers' experience and training



Table 4-8: Criteria for inclusion for teachers' experience and training

Working definition				
Teacher experience and training: Teachers' professional experience and competence in				
teaching multilingual classrooms				
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not			

Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not
to peer teaching perceived as an effective	relating to peer teaching perceived as an
teaching approaches in multilingual	effective teaching approaches in multilingual
classrooms	classrooms

This section provides data that relates to teachers' perspectives on their abilities to use effective teaching strategies to accommodate linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms.

Teachers expressed their confidence in teaching multilingual classrooms:

"So yes, I think I am equipped" (INT1 SAP1, line 38).

"I can say I am now equipped" (INT2 SBP1, line 19).

In this study, the theme "Competence in teaching in multilingual classrooms" indicated that participants considered their competence in teaching multilingual classrooms in two ways, through their personal teaching experience and training, and personal development. These two teacher competencies will now be presented as subthemes.

4.3.2.1 Subtheme 2.1: Personal experience and training

Table 4.9 reflects the criteria for inclusion for personal experience and training.

Table 4-9: Criteria for inclusion, persona	al experience and training
--	----------------------------

Working definition Personal experience and training : Having skills, knowledge, attitude and expertise required to teach effectively in a multilingual classroom	
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Any comment made by participants relating to relying on their personal experience and training to teach multilingual classrooms	Any comment made by participants not relating to relying on their personal experience and training to teach multilingual classrooms

The teachers stressed the importance of relying on various sources to equip themselves with skills and knowledge that will assist them in teaching learners from diverse language backgrounds:



"I have been interacting with these learners for many years and I have learned that I have to get more knowledge so that I will be able to teach them effectively" (INT2 SBP1, line 19-22).

"I have attended a workshop that focused on teaching multilingual classrooms and dealing with language barrier" (INT1 SAP1, line 31-33).

"I have been attending different workshops whereby I have learned to pronounce some of the words in a different language, for example, I have attended IOL it's a program whereby there are introducing a third language in primary schools where the LOLT is English and first additional language is Afrikaans". (INT2 SBP1, line 22-28)

Based on their engagement with learners from diverse language backgrounds and on the developmental workshops they have attended, the teachers indicated that they feel equipped to teach learners from diverse language backgrounds. The study findings contradict Ferreira-Meyers' (2017) study, which reported that teachers indicated that they felt that they had no training and skills for promoting multilingualism in education.

4.3.2.2 Subtheme 2.2: Personal development

Table 4.10 reflects the criteria for inclusion for personal development.

Personal development: The process of improving your skills and increasing the amount of experience you have in a job. This involves engaging in activities that develop an individual's skills, knowledge, expertise and other characteristics as a teacher teaching multilingual classrooms.

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria	
Any comment made by participants	Any comment made by participants not	
relating to engaging in personal	personal relating to engaging in personal development	
development activities to be able to teach	activities to be able to teach multilingual	
multilingual classrooms	classrooms	

Teachers recognise that they must constantly pursue activities that advance their professional skills and knowledge, especially in conducting their research to be able to accommodate learners from diverse language backgrounds effectively in their classrooms.

© University of Pretoria



"I conduct research on multilingual classrooms and language challenges and I also ask experienced teachers for guidance on how to approach or deal with language differences in my teaching" (INT1 SAP1, line 34-38).

"I do conduct my own researches like if I want to say this in this language what do I say" (INT2 SBP1, line 31-33).

Teachers have expressed the importance of self-development, not relying on the DoE only but conduct their own research and collaborate with other teachers who have more experience in teaching multilingual classrooms. Just like using peer teaching in accommodating learners in multilingual classrooms, sharing knowledge related to teaching multilingual classrooms advances their skills in teaching learners from diverse language backgrounds with different learning needs.

4.3.3 Theme 3: Challenges Teachers Experience in Teaching Multilingual Classrooms

Table 4.11 reflects the criteria for inclusion for classroom challenges.

Table 4-11: Criteria for inclusion, classroom challenges

Working definition	pultion toophore experience in greating a
conducive learning and teaching environment	culties teachers experience in creating a
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
	Any comment made by participants not
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	relating to challenges teachers experience
multilingual classrooms	in multilingual classrooms

The data analysis provides compelling evidence that teachers experience challenges that negatively affect presentations of lessons in a multilingual classroom. Teachers find it challenging to accommodate linguistically diverse learners within an expected period. Teachers face the challenge of incorporating the curriculum's demands with the language education policy in their teaching.

The participants indicated that they perceive the challenges they experience in teaching multilingual classrooms as systemic and learning-related challenges. Thus, these two identified challenges will now be presented as subthemes.



4.3.3.1 Subtheme 3.1: Systemic barriers

Table 4.12 reflects the criteria for inclusion for systemic barriers

Table 4-12: Criteria for inclusion, systemic barriers

Working definition						
Systematic barriers: Systematic barriers to learning and teaching are barriers created by the						
education system itself in the multilingual classroom. It is "those factors which lead to the						
inability of the [educational] system to accommodate diversity, which lead						
to learning breakdown or which prevent learners from accessing educational provision"						
(Landsberg, Krüger & Nel, 2005, p. 17),						
Inclusion criteria Exclusion criteria						
Any commont made by participants, relating Any, commont, made, by participants, not						

Any	/ comment m	ade by pa	rticipants relat	ting	Any comment made by participants not
to	systematic	barriers	experienced	in	relating systematic barriers experienced in
multilingual classrooms				multilingual classrooms	

a) Teaching multilingual classrooms is time-consuming

The teachers who participated in this study identified one of the main challenges in teaching multilingual classrooms as time

"Time constraints, you will find that you work on explaining one word because you are trying to reach them, all of them. For example, you will say mukoma this is tshidulo, chair, setulo, you are only saying the word but you have not touched what the chair is meant for. Then time will be against you". (FOC1 SBP1, line 248-253)

"Even when you are teaching them, you will need more time so that you will be able to include all of them in a lesson. There is no sufficient time in class" (INT1 SAP1, 184-187).

In addition to time contributing to challenges experienced by both teachers and learners in multilingual classes, learners' lack of proficiency in the LoLT is also an additional challenge.

"The biggest mistake that our education system has committed is to start the learners with home language at the Foundation Phase and out of the blue (unexpectedly) now, they are introduced to something new. We are expecting them to perform whereas it is not easy". (FOC1 SAP4, line 164-169)

In relation to utilising time to cover the curriculum, other teachers perceive the transition of Grade 3 learners to Grade 4 challenging for both teachers and learners.



According to the teachers, learners could benefit more if the LoLT (English) is introduced earlier to them instead of using their home languages as LoLT in the foundation phase.

"Before you start with your lesson, you start by teaching language and you are not a language teacher and you want to push to cover your curriculum but it will not be possible whereas learners do not understand what you are teaching them". (FOC1 SAP4, line 170-174)

"They are not being taught sounds in English but they are expected to understand English in Grade 4. So how do you understand a language without knowing sounds, how do you grasp that language?" (FOC1 SAP3, line 164-167)

Teachers perceive using HL in the FP and switching the medium of instruction later instead of earlier as one of the contributing factors to the challenges they experience in teaching multilingual classrooms. The teachers indicated that their biggest challenge is incorporating the curriculum's demands with language education policy in their teaching. They are required to meet curriculum demands that were set without considering the demands on their time from all the learners in their classrooms with diverse language needs. Makgamatha et al. (2013) revealed that curriculum and assessment development in South Africa continued without effective mechanisms for including the ideologies of the language education policies.

b) Increased workload

Teaching in any classroom requires an educator to plan for the lesson; this includes the content of the lesson, targeting skills and knowledge and teaching approaches used to achieve learning goals. According to the teachers who participated in this study, planning for a lesson in a multilingual class requires them to use different teaching approaches to accommodate diverse languages, which is perceived as adding to their work.

"There is too much work. It requires you to go an extra mile. You need to do more than is expected because a lesson you were going to plan for twenty minutes now it is going to take you an hour and twenty minutes because you are now catering for each and every learner in class". (INT1 SAP1, line 176-181)



"Planning. If you are teaching multilingual classrooms, your planning will be broader and you will need more methods of planning. It gives you more wor." (FOC1 SAP4, line 317-319).

According to the teachers, lesson planning for a multilingual classroom is broader because all the linguistically diverse learners need to be considered in their planning.

"you are not just focusing on one language and the approaches are going to vary, so now you need more time to do that, your planning takes more time" (INT1 SAP1, line 182-184).

c) Overcrowded classrooms

Overcrowded classrooms also contribute to the challenges teachers experience in teaching multilingual classrooms. The teachers feel they are unable to accommodate all the learners as they are pressed for time to cover the curriculum. This consumes their time because they have to consider each learner when they plan for their lessons.

"The other challenge is the overcrowded classes. We sometimes tend to forget about these learners who come from diverse languages because we feel it's the waste of time" (INT2 SBP1, line 173-177).

"Then the number of learners in a classroom, you have got 54 learners or 48, so imagine working on those digits. It really consumes your time" (FOC2 SBP1, 255-257).

Subtheme 3.2: Learning barriers

Table 4.13 reflects the criteria for inclusion for learning barriers

Table 4-13: Criteria for inclusion, learning barriers

Working definition

Learning barriers: Factors that lead to learning breakdown that prevents learners from accessing the general educational provisions as defined by the curriculum. It involves difficulties in basic processes involved in understanding language, resulting in thinking, reading, listening, speaking and writing problems

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not			
to learning barriers contributing to the	relating to learning barriers contributing to			
challenges teachers experience in teaching	the challenges teachers experience in			
multilingual classrooms	teaching multilingual classrooms			



Some of the challenges teachers experienced in teaching linguistically diverse learners are related to learner's proficiency in the LoLT (English). Learners' proficiency negatively influences teaching and learning in class, especially in writing and reading

a) Multilingual teaching approaches creates confusion

Although teachers recognise the importance and impact of using multilingual teaching approaches in their classes, they think it also confuses their learners. They reported that this confusion is evident during assessment when learners struggle to read and follow instructions as well as their perception of preferred languages in class.

"I understand multilingual teaching to accommodate all learners in the classroom but I think it confuses learners especially when it comes to assessment" (FOC1 SAP3, line 40-42).

"Let me say confusion [is] on the learner side. It seems as if when we switch we are promoting the other language in the class because remember the other kids in the class know Zulu and I am Sotho speaking and I am trying to accommodate these Zulu ones then the other Sotho kids will be focusing on the Zulu words instead of their own." (FOC2 SBP2, line 266-272)

In addition, using multilingual teaching approaches, such as code-switching, is not only perceived as confusing the learners but it is also perceived as promoting other languages or preferring other languages instead of each learner's language.

"Switching to their languages when we are explaining things helps the learners understand but in return it become negative because they no longer going to focus on what they are doing. Also we are Promoting the other language other than focusing on their own". (FOC2 SBP1, line 293-298)

b) Learning skills challenges

The teachers indicated that they understand and recognise the benefits of using multilingual teaching approaches in their classrooms; however, they feel it contributes to writing, reading and verbal expression delays experienced by their learners. As they commented:



"We have a serious challenge in writing" (FOC2 SBP3, line 311).

The teachers provided examples related to writing and spelling challenges they experience in multilingual classrooms.

"To an extent that you give them pictures and a word, they have to fill in the correct word. The picture gives them an idea but you only want the word, they will copy the instruction instead of writing the answer." (FOC2 SBP3, line 320-325)

"I have a learner in my class who speaks Setswana. Tswana and Sesotho are similar somewhere, for example lapile, it is tired in Setswana and hungry and Sesotho so when it comes to forming a sentence it means two different things, when it comes to Sesotho its wrong because she can't use that word as tired". (FOC2 SBP4, line 331-336)

The challenges thus become spelling rules, teaching learners to differentiate spelling rules between their home languages and the LoLT, and they skip vowels when they write in English.

"In English I usually say every time it's a consonant, a vowel, and a consonant, so I'm trying to emphasise those things. You find that in Sesotho the o's are u's. They must know when o changes to u" (FOC2 SBP3, line 376-380).

In addition to the challenges in writing experienced by teachers in multilingual classrooms, they mention that learners struggle to understand them or instructions when they speak in English. Furthermore, learners struggle to clearly communicate their view in English because they use their home languages during lessons in their classes.

"It makes it difficult for learners to express themselves in English as they are used to expressing themselves in their own languages" (FOC1 SAP3, line 323-325).

"It becomes difficult for these learners to follow the instructions because they are used to be taught in African languages and English" (FOC1 SAP1, line 43-45).



This correlates with the findings of other studies, for example, where a teacher reported that she avoided using African languages in the classroom as these 'interfered' with learners' accurate spelling and pronunciation of English (Makoe & McKinney, 2014).

4.3.4 Theme 4: The benefits of using multilingual teaching strategies

Table 4.14 reflects the criteria for selection for multilingual teaching approaches.

Table 4-14: Criteria for selection for multilingual teaching approaches

Working definition **Multilingual teaching strategy benefits**: The impact multilingual teaching approaches have on learners' overall language and social development

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not			
to perceived benefits in using multilingual	relating to perceived benefits in using			
teaching approaches	multilingual teaching approaches			

It appears that multilingual teaching approaches have various benefits for both teachers and learners. The participants indicated that multilingual teaching approaches enhance learning (academic development) and promote classroom interaction (social development). Thus, these two multilingual teaching approach benefits will be presented as subthemes.

4.3.4.1 Subtheme 4.1: Academic development benefits

Table 4.15 reflects the criteria for selection for academic development efforts.

Table 4-15: Criteria for selection, academic development benefits

Working definition				
Academic development benefits: A process by which a learner gain academic-related				
knowledge and skills through the use of effective multilingual teaching practices by teachers				
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not			
to perceived academic benefits in using relating to perceived academic benefits				
multilingual teaching approaches	using multilingual teaching approaches			

According to the teachers that participated in this study, using multilingual teaching approaches doesn't only provide an opportunity for them to interact with the learners in different languages but promotes and enhances learning in their classrooms.

"I think multilingual teaching approaches have benefits because both the teacher and learners are learning. It is incidental; we do not plan



for whatever because sometimes when you are focusing on a topic we have a lot of topics covered during that time because a child will be sharing this with this". (FOC2 SBP1. Line 189-194)

"Another benefit is that if you teach them in their own language they tend to excel and they tend to learn better than when you are teaching them in a different language" (INT1 SAP1, line 114-117).

"One benefit is that they aid creativity. Because we mentioned about visuals, auditory, I think it allows teacher and learners to be creative in how they acquire their information" (FOC2 SBP4. Line 185-188).

"The benefit is for the learners to pass when you use multilingual teaching strategies" (FOC1 SAP1, line 258-259).

In addition to the improvement in academic performance of learners, teachers mentioned that multilingual teaching approaches promote active learning, the engagement of learners in their lesson increases when they use multilingual teaching approaches.

"It also gives them an opportunity to ask questions. It becomes more simple to engage with you and because they get more comfortable" (INT1 SAP1, line 119-121).

"We gain insight about different views in relation to the topic, they are more active" (FOC2 SBP4. Line 195-196).

4.3.4.2 Subtheme 4.2: Social benefits

Table 4.16 reflects the criteria for inclusion for social development benefits.

Table 4-16: Criteria for inclusion, social development benefits

Working definition Social development benefits: a process by which a learner gain skills to interact with others and process their actions. This allows for more opportunities to practice and learn speech and language skills

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria			
Any comment made by participants relating	Any comment made by participants not			
to perceived social development benefits in using multilingual teaching approaches	relating to perceived social development benefits in using multilingual teaching approaches			



It also appears that multilingual teaching approaches promote the use of learners' home languages in schools and provides opportunities for both learner and teachers to learn from each other.

"Our children are being brainwashed and told that English is "thee" language. I think if we are code switching we are showing them that there is nothing wrong with their home language" (INT1 SAP1, line 98-101).

"The benefits are learning and teaching in two ways because when I involve these learners who come from diverse languages I ask them to tell something in their own language, and even other learners are learning". (INT2 SBP1, line 97-101).

"Another benefit is that at the end of the year some of the learners who didn't know a language know isiZulu or Sesotho" (FOC1 SAP4, line 260-262).

The data analysis suggests that teachers recognise that multilingual teaching approaches don't only accommodate learners from diverse language backgrounds but it also provides support to the entire class. Furthermore, teachers acknowledge that multilingual teaching approaches can be an effective way to address writing barriers. These issues were identified earlier as the main difficulties that linguistically diverse learners and their teachers face.

4.4 DISCUSSION

4.4.1 Effective Multilingual Teaching Strategies

The study's findings indicate that teachers welcome the inclusion of multilingual teaching in their schools and believed that using multilingual teaching approaches would accommodate the diverse needs of all learners. According to the participants, this inclusive process would be achieved by adults through encouraging participation in learning and reducing exclusion within education, it further involves changes and adaptations in content, structures and approaches (Rutar, 2014). According to Makoe and McKinney, current research on language practices in multilingual classrooms also points out to the use of 'mixed' codes to facilitate access to the curriculum (Makoe & McKinney, 2014). Teaching approaches such as



translanguaging, code switching, and other assistive language practices may be perceived as undesirable to language development (Childs, 2016).

4.4.1.1 Code-switching

The findings indicate that teachers see code-switching as the most common multilingual teaching approach across schools and subjects. The participants have shown that they recognise and understand the challenges their learners experience due to limited proficiency in the LoLT (English); thus, code-switching is used to address learners' language barrier. Du Buisson (2017) states that "many studies, specifically around language learning, have found that using the localforms of the language could be helpful in learning the 'proper form thereof (Bahous et al., 2014, p. 357, as cited in Du Buisson, 2017). The participants state that the main objective of this teaching option is to interact with learners and so allow them to develop their communication skills. Furthermore, code-switching promotes active learning, once the teacher switches languages during a lesson, learner engagement increases.

According to the teachers, code-switching helps them clarify meaning to learners and accommodate learners to enhance the degree of mutual understanding. In agreement with the study findings, Hedge (2000, p.40, cited in Lugoloobi-Nalunga, 2013) states that "through active teacher-talk and systematic code-switching, the teacher can provide clarification, explanations and meaning while learners respond accordingly, interpreting and negotiating meaning of the target language skill which in its turn leads to a communicative classroom". Lee's (2012) study found codeswitching by teachers led to better learning outcomes than the use of English-only instruction. It had greater benefits for the young participants.

4.4.1.2 Visual aids and concrete objects

In addition to using code-switching to accommodate linguistically diverse learners, teachers indicated that visual aids are effective in teaching learners in multilingual classrooms, especially learners with reading and writing challenges. According to the teachers, visual aids teaching resources make the lesson clearer or easier to understand and know. Furthermore, visual aids are perceived as effective, encouraging students learning process and making it interesting for linguistically diverse learners. Good learning resources could help to address specific problems with language barriers as they can make learning easier for the learners through prompting via supportive visual images (Shabiralyani et al., 2015).



The teachers further revealed that using visual aids in multilingual classrooms is even more effective in addressing the challenges teachers and learners experience during the transition from Grade 3 to Grade 4, which in most schools require learners to change the language of learning. Therefore, teachers bridge the gap by using visual aids to teach basics, sounds and simple sight words in the target language. Childs' (2016) study reveals that learners from linguistically diverse backgrounds experience challenges during the transition from Grade 3 to 4.

4.4.1.3 Peer teaching

The participants revealed that they acknowledge that they have limited proficiency in the languages spoken in their classrooms; thus they make efforts to use more collaborative teaching approaches to bridge the gaps. According to the teachers, peer teaching enables them to accommodate all learners, especially in a multilingual classroom. Peer teaching is a model that can be used in English first Language classes to engage learners during class activities. It enables learners to understand the subjects better, and they explain to their fellow students or more accurately to their peers who cannot comprehend teachers' explanations correctly (Karim & Mohammed, 2018).

There are limited studies that have been conducted to explore the results of implementing peer teaching in multilingual classes from teachers' and students' perspectives. This study's findings correlate with a study conducted by Mathey (2010), as the teachers indicated that they have attempted to solve the problem by using language that is common to both the learners and teacher when explaining concepts, using dictionaries and asking other learners to explain the work. Pluddemann, Mati and Mahlalela-Thus (2000) also revealed that teachers used peer interpreting/teaching (English to Xhosa) to address shortcomings in the oral interaction in the classroom for learners when it was evident that the learner did not understand the questions or instructions from the teacher in the LoLT or a language.

Despite the effective use of peer teaching in multilingual classrooms, it appears to have mixed results. In some cases, the interpreter enabled the other learner to understand the content and question; at other times, the interpreter offered more than required by volunteering the answer as well (Pluddemann et al., 2000). However, teachers in this study perceive peer teaching as an approach that improves learner competence in the subject area, develops autonomous learning skills,



builds confidence and self-esteem; and enhances team-working skills. This is because peer-teaching actively engages learners in the learning process.

4.4.1.4 Rhymes and songs

In addition to the above mentioned perceived effective multilingual teaching approaches, the teachers identified songs and rhyme as an effective approach. The findings of the study indicate that using songs and rhymes in lessons enhances learners understanding and promote active learning as well. Singing songs not only helps learners to recall the material covered in class, but it also ensured that they enjoyed the learning process more and retained their interest. Using rhymes and songs give children an additional link with the classroom environment and played a significant role in strengthening their language skills (Conesa & Rubio, 2015). Conesa and Rubio (2015) state that songs and rhymes are useful to enlarge the vocabulary background of learners improve learners listening and speaking skills pronunciation and teach different language functions. Furthermore, songs and rhymes motivate learners to participate and stimulate children's interest in the LoLT. The above statements support the perceptions of study participants about the benefits of using rhyme and songs to teach in multilingual classrooms

4.4.2 Teacher Education and Experience

Managing a multilingual classroom compels teachers to manage the imparting of subject knowledge while also paying attention to language development as well as individual learner requirements and needs. The teachers indicated that they draw on their personal experience in teaching in a multilingual classroom to enable them to use instructional strategies effectively to accommodate diverse learning needs. They mentioned that engaging in self-development activities such as conducting their own research on multilingual teaching and learning strategies and resources and consulting other experienced teachers is helpful. Multilingual classrooms are demanding; therefore, special attention is required to ensure that the teachers are adequately trained to meet the specific demands of the teaching environment.

Rasheed, Zeeshan and Zaidi (2017) argue that teachers who are professionally trained and, can cope with the pressure of teaching multilingual classrooms as compared to the teachers who are not trained. Ferreira-Meyers' (2017) study show that one of the major challenges in the implementation of multilingual education is caused by limited training of teachers in African languages and the lack of training resources for teacher education. The study shows different results compared to

69



previous researches, as the teachers indicated that they are equipped and are trained to ensure that the learning process in a multilingual classroom is productive and delivers the required results. The overall results indicate that the teachers agree with a study from Hansen-Pauly (2002) that asserts that teachers "aspire to develop is a professional level of language proficiency for the promotion of subject learning in (multilingual) teaching situations".

4.4.3 Challenges Teachers Experience in Multilingual Classrooms

Despite the benefits and the efforts of using multilingual teaching approaches to accommodate linguistically diverse learners, teachers still experience challenges in multilingual classrooms. The findings indicate that some of the challenges teachers' experiences are beyond their control, being more systematic challenges. The teachers in this study mentioned that it is difficult for them to accommodate learners with diverse language needs in their lessons due to class workload and time factor. Teaching multilingual classrooms compels teachers to accommodate each learner in the planning and use various teaching methods, approaches and resources to accommodate all learners. The study findings correlate with Dhillon and Wanjiru's (2013) study, which revealed that teachers experienced curriculum pressure to meet the demands of a syllabus that forces teachers to use any available teaching resources to cover the curriculum content. This results in teachers failing to accommodate all learners in overcrowded multilingual classrooms.

According to Dhillon and Wanjiru's (2013), one of the major challenges that contribute to the challenges teachers face in multilingual classrooms is that school language policy is not fully reinforced. According to Makgamatha et al. (2013), the principles of the language education policies were not incorporated in the development of education curriculum and assessment policies. Hence there are limited teaching resources assigned to multilingual teaching. This shows that despite the development and implementation of policies that support multilingual teaching in schools, multilingual teaching might still be a challenge.

The majority of teachers agreed that multilingual teaching approaches confuse their learners; this confusion is evident during assessments when learners struggle to read and write. Furthermore using various instructional teaching methods to accommodate linguistically diverse learners contribute to the writing, reading and verbal expression delays experienced by their learners. In support of the study findings, Makoe and McKinney (2014), found that a teacher reported that she



avoided using African languages in teaching in the classroom as these 'interfered' with learners' accurate spelling and pronunciation of English. Dhillon and Wanjiru's (2013) stated that mixing and using various languages in the classroom contribute to the challenges experienced by learners and teachers in teaching and learning in multilingual classrooms. The participating teachers identified the following types of code-mixing and switching in their classrooms: Phonological interchanges, and code-mixing (mixing learners' home language and English).

4.4.4 The Benefits of Teaching in a Multilingual Classroom

The study findings revealed that teachers recognise and acknowledge the benefits of using multilingual teaching approaches in their classrooms. The teachers state that multilingual teaching approaches do not only support the use of learners' HL in lessons but enhances learners' understanding of concepts as well and encourage participation in class. In relation to the study findings, Rulon and McCreary (1986, as cited in Dhillon & Wanjiru, 2013) state that peer activities create opportunities for learners to improve each other's language skills, offering learners a safe environment which enable them to negotiate the language they hear free from therapid pace of the teacher-fronted classroom.

Multilingual teaching approaches attempt to develop linguistic ability in the target language through the use of deliberate attainment efforts (Dhillon & Wanjiru, 2013). According to Lee (2012), the use of teaching approaches such as code-switching, peer teaching and visual aids promote the use of the target language efficiently and clearly. Furthermore, Lee (2012) affirms that language learning approaches determine the success level of learners, it is even more so for linguistically diverse learners.

4.5 CONCLUSION

This chapter reported the results obtained from the study data sources. I reflected direct quotations and compared the results with the literature review, and illustrated the themes that emerged from the thematic data analysis. The results and findings indicate that teachers use various multilingual teaching approaches to accommodate learners from diverse language backgrounds in their lessons. Although teachers experience challenges in teaching multilingual classrooms, they perceive the use of multilingual teaching approaches as beneficial in teaching linguistically diverse learners.



5 CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 INTRODUCTION

This concluding chapter of this study of limited scope reviews all the previous chapters, including the summary of the findings discussed in Chapter 4. It continues by discussing the study findings using the main research question and sub-questions in conjunction with the study's theoretical framework. The chapter further discusses the contributions of the study to the body of knowledge. It states the limitations of the study and provides recommendations for further research. The study aimed to gain an in-depth understanding of teachers' experiences and perspectives on effective multilingual strategies in teaching multilingual classrooms.

5.2 OVERVIEW OF THE PREVIOUS CHAPTERS

Chapter 1 provided an overview of the study. It provided background information on the research problem and why it warranted study. The chapter also outlined the purpose of the study, the research questions and research design. **Chapter 2** focused on the literature review, which investigated the literature based on teaching multilingual classrooms and teachers' perceptions of using effective multilingual teaching strategies in primary schools. The literature reviewed discussed previous research nationally and globally in multilingual education; however, the context of those studies differed from this study. The study then moved to **Chapter 3**, which focused on the research process, research design and research methodology. The study used qualitative research methods and collected data by interviews, FG discussions and observations. **Chapter 4** focused on presenting the collected data, analysed AND discussed the study findings.

5.3 DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS

This section focused on discussing the research findings by using the study's primary and secondary questions in conjunction with the existing literature and theoretical framework. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory allowed the researcher to explore and understand the process of using language to mediate learning in a multilingual classroom. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory states that knowledge and meaning are constructed in a social, historical and cultural context (Nel, 2013, p. 23). This implies that development requires an individual's interaction with other people and the tools culture provides to help them form meaning. Multilingual teaching approaches in this theory serve as tools that mediate the process of constructing



meaning and knowledge. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory provides a framework to explore the teaching approaches used by teachers, with the view of discovering how these approaches promote effective teaching and learning in multilingual classrooms.

This section offers a discussion of the research findings, arranged according to the secondary research questions. Section 5.3.1 provides an answer to the study's secondary research questions, which includes; "How do teaching practices adequately accommodate linguistically diverse learners in classrooms?", "What challenges do teachers experience in teaching multilingual classroom?", and "How equipped are teachers in teaching multilingual classrooms?" Section 5.3.1 provides an answer to the main research question, namely; "What are primary school teachers' perspectives on the effective multilingual approaches for inclusively teaching linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms?"

5.3.1 Research Sub-questions

Sub-question 1: How do teaching practices adequately accommodate linguistically diverse learners in classrooms?

The participants in this study confirmed that they used various teaching approaches in an attempt to accommodate linguistically diverse learners in their lessons. They mentioned that learners struggle to understand and engage in lessons when multilingual teaching approaches are not utilised. Teachers indicated that they utilised multilingual teaching approaches such as code-switching, visual aids, concrete objects and peer teaching across subjects as an accommodative or teaching support tool.

The teaching practices are used to enable teachers to engage in and negotiate challenging content with their learners. Teachers switch the LoLT during the lesson to learners' HL to enhance understanding. Furthermore, they mentioned that peer teaching or collaborative learning has proven to be effective, learners understand better in their language and at their level of understanding (when a peer explains to them). Using visual aids, concrete objects, and songs also enable learners to learn to read, spell and understand new concepts better. Hedge, (2000, pp. 43-74, as cited in Lugoloobi-Nalunga, 2013) affirms that "through systematic code-switching the teacher can provide clarification, explanations and meaning while learners respond accordingly, interpreting and negotiating the meaning of the target language".



Using song, rhymes and peer teaching improves learners' listening and speaking skills, teach different language functions, enables learners from diverse language background to understand the subjects better and develops autonomous learning skills (Conesa & Rubio, 2015; Pluddemann et al., 2000). The findings can be affirmed by Vygotsky's sociocultural theory, which argues that learning occurs through social interaction with a skilful educator or more experienced peer who can assist the learner to extend himself and master the content at stake. The use of the identified teaching practices thus adequately accommodates linguistically diverse learners through the ZPD and scaffolding, which is the process where a teacher assists learners to independently construct new meanings to social context (Woolfolk, 2010). The ZPD enables learners to participate in their own learning, and in discovery and development of new understanding (Sibanda, 2015).

Sub-question 2: What challenges do teachers experience in teaching multilingual classrooms?

The teachers seemed to agree about the various challenges that they experience in teaching multilingual classrooms. According to the participants, multilingual classrooms require them to use multiple multilingual teaching approaches to ensure that all the learners are accommodated in their lessons, which is time-consuming and add to their workload. The teachers mentioned that it is difficult to plan lessons for multilingual classrooms and to cover the curriculum within a limited time. This challenge also emerged in a study conducted by Dhillon and Wanjiru (2013), when teachers indicated that they had limited time to cover the syllabus and that this difficulty increases when the class is multilingual. According to Makoe and McKinney (2014), curriculum demands and language diversity in classrooms further create a gap between the learners and the teacher during lessons

The teachers also raised the challenge of addressing the learning barriers influenced by learner's limited proficiency in the LoLT. Rasheed et al. (2017) affirm that limited proficiency in the target language is a major challenge, which cause learners to struggle with instructions given in the English language only. The teachers felt that using some of the multilingual teaching approaches created confusion in their classrooms and contributed to writing, reading and verbal expressions challenges. This challenge was evident during written assessments as learners struggled to read instructions and write in English. This correlates with the findings of Landsberg (2016), who argued that translanguaging and code-switching are helpful. However,



he argued that it could be confusing when there was a variety of home languages in one classroom since some learners might not understand the language switched to by the teachers in code-switching. The findings show that despite the development and implementation of policies that support multilingual teaching in South African schools, teaching in a multilingual classroom might still be challenging.

Sub-question 3: How equipped are teachers in teaching multilingual classrooms?

Teachers expressed their confidence in teaching multilingual classrooms. They felt that their engagement with learners from linguistically diverse backgrounds was supported by the developmental workshops they attended, which adequately equipped them with the skills and knowledge required to teach multilingual classrooms effectively. This contradicts the findings of Hooijer and Fourie's (2009) study, which revealed that teachers proclaimed that they had difficulties with teaching multilingual classes and claimed that they were not adequately skilled to deal with a complex pedagogy such as multilingual teaching. Furthermore, a study conducted by Rasheed et al. (2017) also revealed that teachers felt that they were not adequately trained to teach multilingual classrooms effectively and to cope with the associated difficulties.

The teachers further indicated that it was necessary to continually be involved in activities that advanced their professional skills and knowledge on effective multilingual teaching approaches. They mentioned that conducting their own research on multilingual education-related matters and consulting other teachers, or sharing effective multilingual teaching approaches with other teachers was helpful. Despite the contrasting views of this study compared to previous researches, it is clear that teachers aspire to develop their skills to be able to strategically use their linguistic resources to enhance teaching and learning in their classrooms.

5.3.2 Response to the Main Research Question

The main research question was: What are primary school teachers' perspectives on the effective multilingual approaches for inclusively teaching linguistically diverse learners in their classrooms?

The study findings indicate that although the use of multilingual teaching approaches comes with multiple challenges, teachers perceive multilingual teaching strategies as an effective teaching and learning support tool. They found that multilingual teaching approaches don't only enhance the quality of learning in learners with diverse



language backgrounds but it also creates a safe environment for learners to engage actively in class discussion.

Teachers recognise that the language of instruction, pedagogical approaches and styles they use, influence the extent and nature of learner participation in classroom interaction, teaching and learning process. Hence they indicated that they don't perceive any single teaching strategy as effective in teaching multilingual classrooms but incorporate various multilingual teaching approaches and resources in their lessons. In supporting the study findings, a study conducted in Kenya by Dhillon and Wanjiru (2013) shows the tremendous efforts and activities of teachers in finding successful approaches for teaching in a multilingual classroom. At the classroom level, individual teachers use varied instructional approaches, such as peer teaching, code-switching and multi-media approaches to promote a warm language-learning atmosphere which initiates a positive classroom interaction.

Effective teaching and learning tools

The teachers indicated that they perceived multilingual teaching approaches as the most useful teaching and learning support tool to learners with language-related learning barriers. Erling, Adinolfi and Hultgren (2017) confirm these perceptions by arguing that learning and teaching in a multilingual classroom should be inclusive, learner-centred and promote the use of language supportive teaching approaches. These language teaching approaches would allow teachers to generate opportunities for dialogue and inquiry during lessons, extend learners' understanding of the content as well as develop their competency in English. Various multilingual teaching approaches were identified and considered to be effective depending on the content and the subject taught in class. These include approaches such as code-switching, peer teaching, visual and concrete objects, rhymes and songs.

According to the participants, these approaches are effective in providing all learners equal access to academic knowledge and encourage full, meaningful participation in school. Lugoloobi-Nalunga (2013) affirmed the study findings by stating that through "systematic code-switching the teacher can provide clarification, explanations and meaning while learners respond accordingly, interpreting and negotiating meaning of the target language" (Hedge, 2000, pp. 43-74, as cited in. Lugoloobi-Nalunga, 2013). According to Lee (2012), the use of approaches such as code-switching, peer teaching and visual aids helps the learners understand subject content better and promotes the use of the target language efficiently and clearly.



The multilingual teaching approaches that have been identified by teachers enhance the quality of learning, assist learners in understanding concepts, promote active participation in class activities and creative thinking, and encourage collaborative learning. This perception is affirmed by Vygotsky's sociocultural theory, which states that development depends on a person's interaction with others and the tools the culture provides to help them understand their environment and form their own meaning (Zhou & Brown 2015). Teachers "thus guide the learner to the nearest higher level of development" (Einarsson, 2013, p. 169, as cited in Lugoloobi-Nalunga, 2013). Mutekwe (2018) describes mediation as a learning situation facilitated by a mediator who makes sure that the learners understand the content taught. There are different types of mediators: material; psychological; semiotic; and individual mediators using various other approaches. Thus, the identified multilingual teaching strategies serve as a mediator in the learning process of transforming learners' abilities from lower to higher cognitive functions (Kozulin, 2012).

Promotion and enhancement of learning

The teachers perceived the identified multilingual teaching approaches as effective teaching practices that enhance learning and further enable teachers to engage in challenging academic content with the learners. Erling et al. (2017) argue that using supportive teaching approaches, including classroom code-switching as well as translanguaging, are potential means of enhancing learning. The participants felt that learners found it stimulating and learned better when they used pictures and concrete objects during their lessons. Shabiralyani et al. (2015) affirm that visual aids are excellent learning resources and they could help solve specific language barrier problems, as they provide accurate visual images and can make learning easier for the learners. Teachers further mentioned that using visual aids and concrete objects helps to address learners' writing and reading difficulties.

The use of multilingual teaching approaches enables teachers to make lessons more interactive for learners, which helps them to learn and understand concepts better. Although teachers perceived learners' limited proficiency in English as a contributing factor to the challenges they experienced in teaching multilingual classrooms, they indicated that multilingual teaching approaches enabled them to address language learning related barriers. A study conducted by Rasheed et al. (2017) reached similar conclusions, teachers attempted to address challenges related to learners' limited proficiency in English and a poor understanding of instructions by using visual



aids as well as code-switching from English to Urdu and other languages. Despite the challenges teachers face in multilingual classrooms, they still perceive multilingual teaching approaches as effective in providing linguistically diverse learners equal access to the curriculum.

5.3.3 STRENGTHS OF THE STUDY

Most of the literature focused on teachers' beliefs and attitudes on second language teaching and learning in a bilingual or multilingual classroom rather than teacher's perspectives on the effective teaching approaches used in multilingual classrooms. The main strength of this study is that it focused on the perception of teachers about the use of and effective teaching approaches for inclusively teaching linguistically diverse learners. The existing literature is mostly silent about teachers' perspectives on effective teaching approaches used to accommodate learners from diverse language background.

This study made use of different data collection methods, which ensured the triangulation of the data that was collected. The data collected for this study contained rich descriptions of teachers' perceptions and experiences, which enable me to gain a deeper understanding of how teachers perceived effective teaching approaches for learners in multilingual classrooms. Furthermore, the small groups used in the study provided an equal opportunity for all the participants to make an indepth contribution to the research.

5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

Some limitations were identified during this study.

The study was conducted within a small group of participants who work in different Johannesburg south schools; therefore, the results cannot be generalised to the population of SA as a whole. Considering my experience in working within an IE environment, I may have used my subjective views and understanding of the use of multilingual teaching approaches to accommodate learners from a diverse language background with limited proficiency in English. However, I used the research questions as guidance against generalisation.

5.5 CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE STUDY

The findings of the study have provided an insight into the experiences and perceptions of teachers regarding effective teaching approaches to accommodate learners from diverse language backgrounds inclusively in a full-service and



mainstream school environment. The study findings also provide an example of actual classroom practices that teachers could adopt to support linguistically diverse learners and develop English language competence while using both the official textbooks as well as resources beyond the textbook.

Considering the challenges the teachers mentioned in the study which affect teachers and learners, the study may assist in raising awareness about what teachers are confronted with daily to create an inclusive and conducive learning environment for linguistically diverse learners. This awareness might assist policy developers to adapt and develop inclusive, learner-centred education policies. It is hoped that this study will contribute to shared discussions between teachers and school management to provide teachers with skills and knowledge to become more confident in teaching multilingual classrooms. Furthermore, this could encourage school management to promote the use of multilingual teaching approaches to help learners reach their full potential.

The study provides a greater understanding of the use and benefits of multilingual teaching approaches in resource-constrained schools, particularly the role of local language use, classroom code-switching and visual aids in supporting and understanding, English language speaking and writing skills. This awareness could assist the DoE to provide specific resources, including local language books, to teachers to teach effectively in multilingual classrooms.

5.6 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

5.6.1 Teacher Training and Development

Although some of the participants indicated that they feel competent to teach linguistically diverse learners, the challenges they reported suggest a need to develop their teaching skills to enhance the quality of learning in multilingual classrooms. Rasheed et al. (2017) argue that teachers, who are professionally trained and groomed, can, handle their multilingual classrooms in a much better way than the teachers who are not trained. Therefore, the implementation of flexible multilingual education would require changes in teacher development and support. Teacher education programmes should focus on enabling all teachers to access a range of supportive language pedagogies to support the learning of content across school subjects. The DoE supports schools, providing resources (videos, guides, local language books and adaptable lesson outlines) for teachers that exemplify flexible multilingual education in practical situations in classrooms.

79



practical guidance for teachers about making their lessons more accessible to learners with lower language competence or limited proficiency in the target language (The LoLT).

5.6.2 Support for Teachers

The teachers that participated in this study raised a concern that they struggled to accommodate linguistically diverse learners in their classroom because of the pressure caused by systemic and learning challenges. Schools could write a proposal to the DoE curriculum unit and explain what they require as a school to support learners with diverse linguistic backgrounds, as well as how to incorporate this into the language education policy with the curriculum content.

The teachers also indicated that language proficiency in the LoLT is one of the challenges that contribute to learning difficulties experienced by learners in multilingual classrooms. The study findings also suggested that the classroom practices participants employed were rooted in a desire to support learners in their learning. However, their means of providing that support were limited due to systemic challenges. Considering the development of WP6 in IE in 2001, which aims at ensuring that a range of diverse learners' needs must be accommodated in school, the schools could incorporate the Language in Education Policy (LiEP) in the implementation of the syllabus. All stakeholders in education must be informed about the policy, understand the rationale underlying it, and develop more positive associations with learner-centred, inclusive teaching strategies. The DoE should provide clear messages to all stakeholders in education about the language in education policy and how had to be implemented.

5.6.3 Further Research

This research has been limited to two schools (a full services school and a mainstream school), and only one district within those contexts. Similar research conducted with a larger sample group elsewhere might reveal different perspectives and challenges. Future research could focus on providing a greater understanding of the relationship between language and learning, and how to effectively implement various teaching approaches to multilingual education, particularly in resource-constrained contexts. The study focused on the perception of teachers on effective multilingual teaching strategies, and the findings indicated that teachers perceive various obstacles to use teaching strategies effectively in enhancing learning in multilingual classrooms. Given that there was a near absence of learners' views in



this study, research based on how learners perceived effective learning teaching strategies could be beneficial.

5.7 CONCLUSIONS

The findings of this study of limited scope indicate that teachers perceive various teaching strategies as effective in teaching linguistically diverse learners. The teachers' perceptions are important as they contribute to existing literature and expand insight into how teachers inclusively accommodate learners from diverse language backgrounds with limited language proficiency in their lessons. It provides insight into the actual teaching and learning interactions in multilingual classrooms. Despite the perceived benefits of using multilingual teaching strategies in multilingual classrooms, the teachers expressed their concerns regarding the challenges they faced in teaching multilingual classrooms. This indicates that there is a need for school management and teachers to establish a means to incorporate multilingual teaching strategies in the implementation of the curriculum and training. This research benefitted me as a researcher. I gained a better understanding of the perspectives of teachers on effective teaching strategies in accommodating linguistically diverse learners.



6 REFERENCES

- Aljohani, M. (2017). Principles of constructivism in foreign language teaching. *Journal of Literature and Art Studies*, *7(1)*, 97-107.
- Al-Qadi, H. M., Al-Oun, I. S., & Al-Barri, Q. N. (2013). The Effect of Using the Strategy of Peer Teaching on Developing the Active Learning Skills of the Basic Sixth Grade Students in Arabic Language in Jordan. *Hypothesis*, *4*(19), 71-76
- Blacker, R. L. (2009). A thematic analysis of psychodynamically-oriented supervision of observations in an acute impatient ward (Doctoral dissertation, University of Leicester).
- Bless, C., Higson-Smith, C., & Kagee, A. (2000). Fundamentals of social research methods. *An African perspective*, *3*.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in Psychology, 3(2). 77-101.
- Brock-Utne, B., Desai, Z., & Qorro, M. A. (Eds.). (2003). *Language of instruction in Tanzania and South Africa (LOITASA)*. E & D Limited.
- Bylund, E., & Oostendorp, M. (2013). Second language acquisition. Language, Society and Communication: An Introduction. Van Schaik Publishers: Cape Town
- Childs, M. (2016). Reflecting on translanguaging in multilingual classrooms: Harnessing the power of poetry and photography. *Educational Research for Social Change*, *5(1)*, 22-40.
- Cohen L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research Methods in Education* (6th ed.). London: Taylor & Francis
- Conesa, I. M. G., & Rubio, A. D. J. (2015). The use of rhymes and songs in the Teaching of English in Primary Education. *Revista Docencia e Investigación*, (25.2), 83-101.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches (2nd ed.). London, United Kingdom: Sage publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating*. W. Ross MacDonald School Resource Services Library.



- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approach (4th ed.). London, United Kingdom: Sage publications.
- Department of Basic Education (DBE). (2011). National Curriculum Statement (NCS). Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement. Further Education and Training Phase Grades 10-12. Pretoria: Government Printer. Website: http://www.education.gov.za
- Department of Basic Education. (DBE). (2014). National Senior Certificate Examination Diagnostic report 2014. (https://www.education.gov.za/Portals/0/Documents/Reports/2014%20NSC %20Diagnostic%20report.pdf?ver=2015-02-09-160830-153) Accessed 31 July, 2020.
- Department of Basic Education. (DBE). (2015). National Senior Certificate Examination Diagnostic report 2015. (http://www.governmentpublications.lib.uct.ac.za/news/2015-national-seniorcertificate-examination-diagnostic-report). Accessed 30 July, 2020.
- Department of Basic Education (DBE). (2016). National Senior Certificate Examination Diagnostic report 2014. (https://www.education.gov.za/Curriculum/National SeniorCertificate(NSC)Examinations/2016NSCExamReports.aspx) Accessed 31 July 2020.
- Department of Education (DoE). (1997). *Language in education policy*. Pretoria: Department of Education, Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/languageeduca</u> <u>tionpolicy19971.pdf</u>
- Department of Education (DoE). (2001). *Education White Paper 6: Special Needs Education, Building An Inclusive Education And Training System.* Pretoria: Department of Education. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.za/documents/special-needs-education-education-white-paper-6</u>
- Di Fabio, A., & Maree, J. G. (2012). Ensuring quality in scholarly writing. *Complete your thesis or dissertation successfully: Practical guidelines*, 136-144.



- Dhillon, J., & Wanjiru, J. (2013). Challenges and strategies for teachers and learners of English as a second language: The case of an urban primary school in Kenya. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, *3*(2), 14-24.
- Donald, D. R., Lazarus, S., & Lolwana, P. (2006). *Educational psychology in social context.* Oxford University Press.
- du Buisson, T. (2017). Facilitating Multilingual Tutorials at the University of the Free State. *Journal of Student Affairs in Africa*, *5*(2), 151-162.
- Elias, M. J., & Theron, L. C. (2012). Linking purpose and ethics in thesis writing: South African illustrations of an international perspective. In J. G. K Maree (Eds.), *Complete your thesis or dissertation successfully: Practical guidelines* (pp.145-159). Cape town, South Africa: Juta.
- Engelbrecht, A., Swanepoel, H., Nel, M., & Hugo, A. (2013). Embracing diversity through multi-level teaching for foundation, intermediate and senior phase. *Cape Town: Juta*.
- Erling, E. J., Adinolfi, L., & Hultgren, A. K. (2017). Multilingual Classrooms: Opportunities and Challenges for English Medium Instruction in Low and Middle Income Contexts. *Education Development Trust*.
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Engelbrecht, A., Nel, M., & Hugo, A. (2013). Strategies for supporting language. In A. Engelbrecht & H. Swanepoel (Eds.), *Embracing diversity: through multi-level teaching* (pp.211-241). Cape town, South Africa: Juta & Company Ltd.
- Ferreira-Meyers, K.A.F. (2017). Multilingualism and the language curriculum in South Africa: contextualising French within the local language ecology. *Stellenbosch Papers in Linguistics Plus*, .51, 23-40 https://doi.org/10.5842/51-0-696
- García, O. (2011). *Bilingual education in the 21st century: A global perspective*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- García, O., & Sylvan, C. E. (2011). Pedagogies and practices in multilingual classrooms: Singularities in pluralities. *The Modern Language Journal*, *95*(3), 385-400.



- Guzula, X., McKinney, C., & Tyler, R. (2016). Languaging-for-learning: Legitimising translanguaging and enabling multimodal practices in third spaces. Southern African Linguistics and Applied Language Studies, 34(3), 211-226.
- Hansen-Pauly, M. A. (2002). The language of literature as a reflection of social realitites and traditions in Luxembourg. University of Luxembourg. Retrieved from https://rm.coe.int/16806aca0c
- Hays, D.G & Singh, A.A. (2012). *Qualitative inquiry in clinical and educational settings*. New York, NY: The Guilford press
- Haukas, A. (2016). Teachers' beliefs about multilingualism and a multilingual pedagogical approach. *International journal of multilingualism*, *13*(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/doi: 10.1080/14790718.2015.1041960
- Heugh, K. (2013). Multilingual education policy in South Africa constrained by theoretical and historical disconnections. *Annual review of applied linguistics*, 33, 215-237
- Heugh, K. (2017). 11 Re-Placing and Re-Centring Southern Multilingualisms. *Entangled discourses: South-north orders of visibility*, 209.
- Heugh, K., Prinsloo, C., Makgamatha, M., Diedericks, G., & Winnaar, L. (2017).
 Multilingualism (s) and system-wide assessment: A southern perspective. *Language and Education*, *31*(3), 197-216.
- Hooijer, E. & Fourie, J. (2009). Teacher's perspective of multilingual classrooms in a South African school. *Education as Change*, *13*(1), 129-145
- Ishak, N. M., & Bakar, A. Y. A. (2014). Developing Sampling Frame for Case Study: Challenges and Conditions. World Journal of Education, 4(3), 29-35. https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v4n3p29
- Johnson, B. & Christensen, L. (2014). *Educational research: quantitative, qualitative and mixed approaches* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications
- Karim, H. A., & Mohammed, A. A. (2018). Implementing Peer Teaching to Enhance English Students' Language Learning: Kurdish EFL Teachers' and Students' Perspectives. *Journal of Garmian University*, *5*(1), 1-23.
- Knowles, M., Nieuwenhuis, J., & Smit, B. (2009). A narrative analysis of educators' lived experiences of motherhood and teaching. South African Journal of Education, 29(3), 333-343.



- Kozulin, A. (1986). Thoughts and language: Lev Vygotsky. Boston, MA: The MIT press.
- Landsberg, E. (2016). *Addressing barriers to learning: A South African perspective.* Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik Publishers
- Landsberg, E., Krüger, D., & Nel, N. (Eds.). (2005). *Addressing barriers to learning: A South African perspective*. Van Schaik Publishers.
- Lee, J. H. (2012). Implications for Language Diversity in Instruction in the Context of Target Language Classrooms: Development of a Preliminary Model of the Effectiveness of Teacher Code-Switching. *English Teaching: Practice and Critique*, 11(4), 137-160.
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormond, J. E. (2005). *Practical research: planning and design* (8th ed.).Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Lemmer, E. M., Meier, C., & Van Wyk, J. N. (2012). *Multicultural education: A manual for the South African teacher* (2nd ed.). Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik publishers.
- Lemmer, E. & Van wyk, N. (2010). *Themes in South African Education. C*ape Town: Pearson education publication.
- Lewis, G., Jones, B., & Baker, C. (2012). Translanguaging: Developing its conceptualisation and contextualisation. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, *18*(7), 655-670.
- Lim, L. L. (2014). A case study on peer-teaching. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 2(8), 35-40.
- Lincoln, Y. G., & Guba, E. G. EG (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry.* London: Sage.
- Lugoloobi-Nalunga, M. (2013). Teaching and learning English in a multilingual classroom: A study of code-switching in an EFL/ESL teaching/learning situation. *Digitala Vetenskapliga Arkivet*, 1-42. Retrieved from https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A704152&dswid=-1086
- Mack, M., Woodsong, C., Macqueen, Guest, G., & Namey, E. (2005). Qualitative research methods: A data collector's field guide. Arlington, VA: Family Health International



- Mahlo, F. D. (2011). Experiences of learning support teachers in the foundation phase with reference to the implementation of inclusive education in *Gauteng*.(Doctoral dissertation, University of South Africa).
- Makgamatha, M.M., Heugh, K.M., Prinsloo, C., & Winnaar, L. (2013). Equitable language practices in large-scale assessment: Possibilities and limitations in South Africa. Southern African Linguistics and Applied Language Studies, 31(2), 251–269. https://doi.org/10.2989/16073614.2013.816021
- Makoe, P. (2015). Language acquisition and Language learning. In N.Phatudi (Eds.), Introducing English as first additional language in the early years (pp.33-66). Cape Town, South Africa: Pearson
- Makoe, P & Mckinney, C. (2014). Linguistic ideologies in multilingual South African suburban schools. *Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development*, 35(7), 658-673
- Maree, J. G. (2012). Career adapt-abilities scale—South African form: Psychometric properties and construct validity. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 80(3), 730-733.
- Mathey, G. (2010). Simultaneous interpreting at high school level in South Africa: a case study. In M. Verhoef & T. Du Plessis (eds), *Multilingualism and educational interpreting: innovation and delivery*. Pretoria: Van Schaik. 179-195
- Mbatha, T. (2015). EFAL teaching and learning methodologies. In N.Phatudi (Eds.),
 Introducing English as First Additional Language in the early years (pp. 68-94). Cape Town, South Africa: Pearson.
- McKinney, C., Carrim, H., Marshall, A., & Layton, L. (2015). What counts as language in South African schooling?: Monoglossic ideologies and children's participation. *AILA Review*, *28*(1), 103-126.
- Mertens, D.M. (2010). Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative and mixed methods (3rd ed.).Los Angeles, CA: Sage publications
- Mfuthwana, T. (2016). Teachers' perceptions regarding the role of district-based support teams as well as inclusive education teams in establishing inclusive schools (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University).



- Moll, C. L.(1990). Vygotsky and education: instructional implications and application of sociohistorical psychology. Victoria, Australia: Cambridge university press
- Monyai, S. C. (2012). *Meeting the challenges of black English second language South African learners in ex-model C primary schools* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).
- Morgan, B. & Sklar, R, H. (2012). Sampling and research paradigms. In J. G.K. Maree (Eds.) Complete your thesis or dissertation successfully: Practical guidelines (pp. 69-80). Cape Town, South Africa: Juda & company Ltd
- Mutekwe, E. (2018). Using a Vygotskian sociocultural approach to pedagogy: Insights from some teachers in South Africa. *Journal of Education (University of KwaZulu-Natal)*, (71), 58-72.
- Muthivhi, A., & Broom, Y. (2009). School as cultural practice: Piaget and Vygotsky on learning and concept development in post-apartheid South Africa. *Journal of Education*, *47*, 1-18.
- Naiken, D. J. (2016). *Reading difficulties as barriers to learning experienced by learners entering the intermediate phase* (Doctoral dissertation, University of South Africa).
- National Education Policy Act, Act 27 of 1996. (1997). Pretoria, government printer. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.za/documents/national-education-policy-act</u>
- Nel, M. (2013). Understanding inclusion. In A. Engelbrecht & H. Swanepoel (Eds.), *Embracing diversity: through multi-level teaching* (pp.1-29). Cape Town, South Africa: Juta & Company
- Nieuwenhuis, J. (2007). Introducing qualitative research. In K. Maree (Eds.), *First steps in research* (pp. 124-141). Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik publishers
- Nieuwenhuis, J., & Smit, B. (2012). Qualitative research. *Doing social research: A global context*, 124-139.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *16*(1).https://doi.org/609406917733847.



- Odugu, D. I. (2011). Education language policy process in multilingual societies: Global visions and local agendas in India, Nigeria and UNESCO (Doctoral dissertation, Loyola University, Chicago).
- Phatudi, N. (Ed.). (2015). *Introducing English as first additional language in the early years.* London, UK: Pearson.
- Plüddemann, P., Mati, X., & Mahlalela-Thusi, B. (2000). *Problems and possibilities in multilingual classrooms in the Western Cape*. Cape Town: PRAESA.
 Rasheed, S., Zeeshan, M., & Zaidi, N. A. (2017). Challenges of teaching English language in a multilingual setting: An investigation at government girls secondary schools of Quetta, Baluchistan, Pakistan. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 7(4), 149.
- Reeves, J. R. (2006). Secondary Teacher Attitudes toward including Englishlanguage learners in mainstream classrooms. *Journal of education research*, 99(3), 132-139.
- Rutar, S. (2014). Multilingual learning and teaching as a principle of inclusive practice. *Journal of Contemporary Educational Studies*, *65*(1), 11-25.
- Samoff, J. O. E. L. (2008). Bantu Education, People's Education, Outcomes–Based Education. *Educational change in South Africa: Reflections on local realities, practices, and reforms*. Rotterdam, Netherlands: Sense publishers
- Shabiralyani, G., Hasan, K. S., Hamad, N., & Iqbal, N. (2015). Impact of Visual Aids in Enhancing the Learning Process Case Research: District Dera Ghazi Khan. *Journal of education and practice*, 6(19), 226-233.
- Sharma, G. (2017). Pros and cons of different sampling techniques. *International Journal of Applied Research*, *3*(7), 749-752
- Sibanda, L. (2015). Investigating the nature of the linguistic challenges of the Department of Basic Education (DBE) 2013 Grade 4 Mathematics ANAs and learners' and teachers' experience of them. (Doctoral dissertation, Rhodes University).
- South African Constitution Act, Act 108 of 1996. (2011). Retrieved from https://www.gov.za/documents/constitution-republic-south-africa-1996



- South African Schools Act (SASA), Act 84 of 1996. (2004). Retrieved from https://www.education.gov.za/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=alolZ6UsZ5U%3D&ta bid=185&
- Statistics South Africa. (2011). *Census 2011*. <u>Retrieved from</u> <u>https://www.statssa.gov.za/census2011</u>.
- Stoop, C. (2017). Children's rights to mother-tongue education in a multilingual world: a comparative analysis between South Africa and Germany. *Potchefstroom Electronic Law Journal*, 20(1). Doi <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17159/1727-3781/2017/v20i0a820</u>
- Taylor, S., & von Fintel, M. (2016). Estimating the impact of language of instruction in South African primary schools: A fixed effects approach. *Economics of Education Review*, 50, 75-89.
- Tobin, G. A., & Begley, C. M. (2004). *Methodological rigour within a qualitative framework. Journal of advanced nursing*, 48(4), 388-396.
- Tracy, S.J. (2013). Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact. West Sussex, United Kingdom: Wiley Blackwell
- The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa. Act, Act 108 of 1996. Pretoria: Government printer.
- UNESCO. (2003). UNESCO Education Position Paper. *Education in a Multilingual World*. Retrieved from <u>https://bangkok.unesco.org/content/education-</u> <u>multilingual-world-unesco-education-position-paper</u>
- United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Organization (2016). Literacy in multilingual and multicultural contexts: Effective Approaches to Adult Learning and Education. Germany: UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning

Vygotsky, L. S. (1986). Thought and language (A. Kozulin, trans.)

- .Wei, L. (2011). Multilinguality, multimodality, and multicompetence: code-and modeswitching by minority ethnic children in complementary schools. *The modern language Journal*, *95*, 370-384.
- Willig, C. (2013). *Introducing qualitative research in psychology* (3rd Ed.). New York, NY: Open University Press
- Woolfolk, A. (2010). *Educational Psychology* (11th Ed.). New Jersey, USA: Pearson.



- Xamlashe, S. S. (2015). The use of history texts in IsiXhosa for Grade 11 in developing academic writing skills across the curriculum (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University).
- Yin, K.R.(2011). Qualitative research from start to finish. New York, USA: The Guilford press
- Zhou, M., & Brown, D. (2015). Educational learning theories. Education open text books. Retrieved from http://oer.galileo.usg.edu/education-textbooks



7 APPENDICES

7.1 APPENDIX A - CODED TRANSCRIPTS

This is just a sample of the analysed transcript of the individual semi structured Interviews and FG discussions. The complete transcript is included on the compact disc (CD) attached to the mini-dissertation.

Individual semi structured interview (School B).

		Themes
1	Facilitator: what is your understanding of the term	
2	multilingualism?	
3	SBP1: I think it comes from the term multilingual, which	
4	describes the ability of speaking different languages or	
5	being able to engage with others using various	
6	languages. Therefore, the term means the practice of	
7	multiple languages	
8	Facilitator: there are different learners from diverse	
9	language backgrounds in your classroom. How do you	
10	accommodate them in your lessons?	
11	SBP1: By using visual, I use words and pictures	
12	because I believe when I child sees a picture and a	
13	word they learn better. I also use different languages	
14	when I teach them. When I realise that they don't	
15	understand I switch to their languages, at least a few that I know	
16		
17 18	Facilitator: How equipped or confident are you in teaching learners in a diverse multilingual classroom	
10	teaching learners in a diverse multilingual classroom	
19	SBP1: I can say I am now equipped, because I have	
20	been interacting with these learners for many years and	
21	I have learned that I have to get more knowledge so	
22	that I will be able to teach them effectively. I have been	
23	attending different workshops whereby I have learned	
24	to pronounce some of the words in a different language,	
25	for example, I have attended IOL it's a program	
26	whereby there are introducing a third language in	
27	primary schools where the LOLT is English and first	
28	additional language is Afrikaans. I had of opportunity of	
29	learning some of the words in Tshivenda due to that I	
30	see myself as being equipped. Also I can say I am a	
31 32	teachable somebody, I do conduct my own researches like if I want to say this in this language what do I say	
52	ince in a want to say this in this language what do I Say	



7.2

APPENDIX B – PERMISSION TO CONDUCT RESEARCH



Faculty of Education

Fakulteit Opvoedkunde Lefapha la Thuto

The SGB and Headmaster
Primary School
P.O.Box

Dear Sir/Madam

REQUEST TO CONDUCT THE RESEARCH

I hereby request permission to conduct a research study in your school. My name is Colleen Makolane, I am currently enrolled as a masters student in educational psychology at the University of Pretoria. The topic of my research is: perspectives of primary school teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches. The purpose of this research is to explore the effect of teaching and learning methods used in accommodating linguistically diverse learners in primary schools classrooms.

My research methodology will include focus group discussions, interviews and lesson observations. The findings of this study will assist in meeting the challenges faced by teachers and learners in multilingual classrooms .Pseudonyms will be used to protect the identity of the school, teachers and learners. All information collected will be securely stored in line with the University of Pretoria's regulations. Your co-operation will be appreciated. For more information feel free to contact me or my supervisor on the below contact details:

Colleen Makolane colleenius@gmail.coma 072 236 3454 Dr Funke Omidire (Supervisor) <u>Funke.omidire@up.ac.za</u> 012 420 5506

Yours faithfully Ms. C. S Makolane



APPENDIX C - PARTICIPANT CONSENT LETTERS



7.3

UNIVERSITEIT VAN PRETORIA UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA YUNIBESITHI YA PRETORIA Faculty of Education

Dear Teacher,

I, Colleen Makolane, Masters Student in Educational Psychology at the University of Pretoria, would like to ask for your participation on this research project. The aims of the study is to explore teachers' experiences and views the role language teaching strategies plays in the classroom, for appropriate learning to take place. The title of my project is *perspectives of primary school teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches*

Your involvement will be limited to focus group discussions, semi-structured interviews and classroom observations to understand your perspectives on the issues indicated above within your specific context. Workshops on teaching and learning in multilingual classrooms will also be organised at your convenience. The interviews will take place after school hours and will be audio recorded. The interview and focus group discussions should take approximately 45 minutes and will be scheduled when you are available. The information obtained during this research project will be treated with the strictest confidentiality and will be used solely for this research only. Participation is voluntary and you may withdraw from the study at any time.

Pseudonyms will be used to protect the identity of the school, teachers and learners. All information collected will be securely stored in line with the University of Pretoria's regulations. The video recordings made during this time will only be viewed us and will be stored securely at all times. The recordings will never be reproduced or broadcast to any third party now or in the future.

There are no risks involved in participation. The benefits lie in our further understanding of the various issues surrounding teaching and learning in a multilingual context and possible contribution to knowledge in this field. I look forward to your participation and contribution to this project.

Yours sincerely,

Colleen Makolane colleenius@gmail.coma 072 236 3454 Dr Funke Omidire (Supervisor) <u>Funke.omidire@up.ac.za</u> 012 420 5506



Declaration of consent

If you are willing to participate in this study, please sign this letter as a declaration of your consent. Signing this letter indicates that you understand that your participation in this project is voluntary and that you may withdraw from the research project at any time. Under no circumstances will the identity of the school or research participants be disclosed or published to any party/organisation that may be involved in the research process.

I, ______ (your name), teacher at ______ agree to take part in this research. I agree to allow the researcher to take video recordings of my lessons and audio record the interviews for the duration of the proposed study. I understand that the researcher subscribes to the following principals:

- **Voluntary participation.** participants may withdraw from the research at any time during the study.
- <u>Informed consent</u>- research participants will at all times be fully informed about the research process and purposes, and must give consent to their participation in this research.
- <u>Safety in participation</u>- Participants will not be placed at risk or harm of any kind.
- <u>Privacy</u>- meaning that the confidentiality and anonymity of human respondents will be protected at all times.
- <u>**Trust**</u>, Participants will not be subjected to any acts of deception or betrayal in the research process or its published outcomes.

Teacher's name: _____

Teacher's signature:	Date:	
reacher 5 Signature.	Date.	



7.4 APPENDIX D - PARTICIPANT INTERVIEW SCHEDULE

INTERVIEW SCHEDULE

Title: perspectives of primary school teachers on effective multilingual teaching approaches

1.1 School demographics

Questionnaire no:	
Name of the school	
Number of learners in each in the school	
Number of learners in class	
Number of learners that speak English at	
home in class	
Home language (s) offered at the school	
The FAL offered at the school	
Different languages spoken by learners in	
class	

1.2 Biographical information: (mark appropriate boxes with an x)

Name & Surname						
Gender (M/F)						
Highest qualification						
Subject(s) taught						
Current grade taught						
Teaching experience						
(years)						
Teaching experience in the						
current school						
Age	20-25	25-30	30-40	40-50	50-60	60+

Questions to be asked

1. What is your understanding of the term multilingualism?

2. There are different learners from diverse language backgrounds in your classroom, how do you accommodate them in your lessons?

3. How equipped/confident are you in teaching learners in diverse multilingual classrooms?

4. What is your understanding of multilingual teaching and learning approaches?

5. Which teaching approaches do you use to support learners from diverse language backgrounds?

6. What do you think are the benefits of using multilingual teaching approaches in resource constrained classrooms?

7. Which multilingual teaching approaches do learners respond well to?



8. What resources do you believe would be effective in enhancing learning and teaching in multilingual classrooms?

9. What do you like/ enjoy about teaching learners who speak diverse home languages?

10. What challenges do you experience in teaching multilingual classrooms?

11. What kind of support do you receive from the school management team in promoting and supporting teaching learners from diverse language backgrounds?